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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

G1 Therapeutics, Inc.
Condensed Balance Sheets (unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
  June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020  
         
Assets         
Current assets         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 244,023  $ 207,306 
Restricted cash   63   63 
Accounts Receivable   4,962   237 
Inventories   1,402   — 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   15,250   8,786 

Total current assets   265,700   216,392 
Property and equipment, net   2,244   2,482 
Restricted cash   375   437 
Operating lease assets   7,540   8,026 
Other assets   896   1,215 

Total assets  $ 276,755  $ 228,552 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity         
Current liabilities         

Accounts payable  $ 3,638  $ 3,572 
Accrued expenses   18,566   16,486 
Deferred revenue   185   237 
Other current liabilities   3,252   3,148 

Total current liabilities   25,641   23,443 
Loan payable   30,093   19,893 
Deferred revenue   500   — 
Operating lease liabilities   7,325   7,865 

Total liabilities   63,559   51,201 
Stockholders’ equity         

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 120,000,000 shares authorized as of
    June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively; 42,272,987 and 38,140,756 shares
    issued as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively; 42,246,321 and
    38,114,090  shares outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively   4   4 
Treasury stock, 26,666 shares   (8)   (8)
Additional paid-in capital   715,171   613,462 
Accumulated deficit   (501,971)   (436,107)

Total stockholders’ equity   213,196   177,351 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 276,755  $ 228,552

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
 

1



 
 

G1 Therapeutics, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Operations (unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020   2021   2020  
Revenues:                 

Product sales, net  $ 2,532  $ —  $ 3,141  $ — 
License revenue   4,072   2,140  $ 17,681  $ 2,140 

Total revenues   6,604   2,140  $ 20,822  $ 2,140 
Operating expenses:                 

Cost of goods sold   808   —   1,051   — 
Research and development   18,752   18,531   35,292   38,965 
Selling, general and administrative   25,236   14,431   48,206   25,818 

Total operating expenses   44,796   32,962   84,549   64,783 
Loss from operations   (38,192)   (30,822)   (63,727)   (62,643)
Other income (expense):                 

Interest income   9   91   28   872 
Interest expense   (927)   (265)   (1,675)   (265)
Other income (expense)   (92)   (214)   (132)   (197)

Total other income (expense), net   (1,010)   (388)   (1,779)   410 
Loss before income taxes   (39,202)   (31,210)   (65,506)   (62,233)
Income tax expense   220   —   358   — 
Net loss  $ (39,422)  $ (31,210)  $ (65,864)  $ (62,233)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.94)  $ (0.83)  $ (1.59)  $ (1.65)
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted   42,119,850   37,786,208   41,414,254   37,722,965

 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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G1 Therapeutics, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
 

  Common stock   Treasury stock   
Additional

paid-in   Accumulated   
Total stock-

holders'  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   capital   deficit   equity  

Balance at December 31, 2020   38,140,756  $ 4   (26,666)  $ (8)  $ 613,462  $ (436,107)  $ 177,351 
Public offering (ATM)   3,513,027   —   —   —   86,378   —   86,378 
Exercise of common stock options   388,857   —   —   —   2,264   —   2,264 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   —   —   5,892   —   5,892 
Net loss during quarter   —   —   —   —   —   (26,442)   (26,442)
Balance at March 31, 2021   42,042,640  $ 4   (26,666)  $ (8)  $ 707,996  $ (462,549)  $ 245,443 
Exercise of common stock options   230,347   —   —   —   1,481   —   1,481 
Stock-based compensation           —   —   5,694   —   5,694 
Net loss during quarter   —   —   —   —   —   (39,422)   (39,422)
Balance at June 30, 2021   42,272,987  $ 4   (26,666)  $ (8)  $ 715,171  $ (501,971)  $ 213,196

 

 
 
 

  Common stock   Treasury stock   
Additional

paid-in   Accumulated   
Total stock-

holders'  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   capital   deficit   equity  

Balance at December 31, 2019   37,638,260  $ 4   (26,666)  $ (8)  $ 592,384  $ (336,853)  $ 255,527 
Exercise of common stock options   125,666   —   —   —   219   —   219 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   —   —   4,727   —   4,727 
Net loss during quarter   —   —   —   —   —   (31,023)   (31,023)
Balance at March 31, 2020   37,763,926  $ 4   (26,666)  $ (8)  $ 597,330  $ (367,876)  $ 229,450 
Exercise of common stock options   175,140   —   —   —   1,238   —   1,238 
Stock-based compensation   —   —   —   —   4,367   —   4,367 
Net loss during quarter   —   —   —   —   —   (31,210)   (31,210)
Balance at June 30, 2020   37,939,066  $ 4   (26,666)  $ (8)  $ 602,935  $ (399,086)  $ 203,845

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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G1 Therapeutics, Inc.
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)

(amounts in thousands)
 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  
Cash flows from operating activities         
Net loss  $ (65,864)  $ (62,233)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
   activities         

Stock-based compensation   11,586   9,094 
Depreciation and amortization   238   317 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets   —   8 
Amortization of debt issuance costs   473   88 
Non-cash interest expense   236   177 
Non-cash equity interest, net   146   (926)
Change in operating assets and liabilities         

Accounts receivable   (4,725)   — 
Inventories   (1,402)   — 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (5,456)   (622)
Accounts payable   (456)   (868)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   1,408   (908)
Deferred revenue   448   — 

Net cash used in operating activities   (63,368)   (55,873)
Cash flows from investing activities         
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment   —   — 
Purchases of property and equipment   —   — 

Net cash provided/used in investing activities   —   — 
Cash flows from financing activities         
Proceeds from stock options exercised   3,745   1,457 
Proceeds from loan agreement   10,000   20,000 
Payments of debt issuance costs   (100)   (525)
Proceeds from public offering, net of underwriting fees and commissions   86,429   — 
Payment of public offering costs   (51)   — 

Net cash provided by financing activities   100,023   20,932 
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   36,655   (34,941)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash         
Beginning of period   207,806   269,708 
End of period  $ 244,461  $ 234,767 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information         
Cash paid for interest  $ 1,132  $ — 
Non-cash operating, investing and financing activities         
Upfront project costs and other current assets in accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 522  $ 2,500 
Debt issuance costs included in accrued expenses  $ -  $ 95 
        

 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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G1 Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to financial statements
(unaudited)

1. Business Description

G1 Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) is a commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company based in Research Triangle Park, North Carolina focused on the
development and commercialization of novel small molecule therapeutics for the treatment of patients with cancer. The Company’s first FDA-approved
product, COSELA™ (trilaciclib) is the first and only therapy indicated to proactively help protect bone marrow from the damage of chemotherapy and is
the first innovation in managing myelosuppression in decades. The Company was incorporated on May 19, 2008 in the state of Delaware.

The Company uses “COSELA” when referring to its FDA approved drug and “trilaciclib” when referring to the development of COSELA for additional
indications.  

The Company is advancing its lead clinical compound trilaciclib, a first-in-class therapy designed to improve outcomes for patients who are treated with
chemotherapy, in clinical trials assessing myeloprotection and anti-tumor efficacy endpoints in a variety of tumors including colorectal cancer (“CRC”),
metastatic triple negative breast cancer (“mTNBC”), neoadjuvant breast cancer, non-small cell lung cancer (“NSCLC”) and bladder cancer. The Company
is in the process of evaluating partnering options for rintodestrant, an oral selective estrogen receptor degrader (SERD) for the potential treatment of ER+,
HER2- breast cancer. In addition, the Company out-licensed global rights to lerociclib, an internally discovered and differentiated oral CDK4/6 inhibitor
designed to enable more effective combination treatment strategies across multiple oncology indications.  The Company also has intellectual property
focused on cyclin-dependent kinase targets.

Trilaciclib

The Company’s lead compound, trilaciclib, is a first-in-class therapy approved to help protect hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (“HSPCs”) in bone
marrow against chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression by transiently inhibiting CDK4/6 in patients with extensive-stage small cell lung cancer (“ES-
SCLC”). This action leads to a temporary arrest of susceptible host cells during chemotherapy. This reduces the duration and severity of neutropenia and
other myelosuppressive consequences of chemotherapy. Also, clinical trials have shown that trilaciclib has the potential to activate and enhance the
immune system response driving increased anti-tumor efficacy, which the Company continue to explore in additional clinical trials in a variety of solid
tumor types.

Trilaciclib is a novel therapeutic approach, which is given before chemotherapy, that temporarily blocks progression through the cell cycle. This provides
two benefits. First, it proactively helps protect HSPCs in bone marrow leading to preservation of neutrophils, erythrocytes, and platelets (called
myeloprotection) which reduces the occurrences and severity of neutropenia and other myelosuppressive consequences of chemotherapy. This
myeloprotection benefit has been conclusively proven in double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trials in extensive-stage small cell lung cancer. Second,
trilaciclib activates and enhances the immune system response driving increased anti-tumor efficacy, which the Company is exploring in clinical trials.

On February 12, 2021, COSELA for injection was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to decrease the incidence of
chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression in adult patients when administered prior to a platinum/etoposide-containing regimen or topotecan-containing
regimen for ES-SCLC. On March 2, 2021, COSELA became commercially available through G1’s specialty distributor network. COSELA is administered
intravenously as a 30-minute infusion completed within four (4) hours prior to the start of chemotherapy and is the first FDA-approved therapy to provide
proactive, multilineage protection from chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression. The approval of COSELA is based on data from three (3) randomized,
placebo-controlled trials that showed patients receiving COSELA prior to chemotherapy had clinically meaningful and statistically significant reduction in
the duration and severity of neutropenia, reduction of red blood cell transfusions, as well as improvements in other myeloprotection measures, compared to
patients receiving chemotherapy without COSELA. G1 announced on March 25, 2021 that COSELA had been included in two updated National
Comprehensive Cancer Network® (“NCCN”) Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines®): The Treatment Guidelines for Small Cell
Lung Cancer and the Supportive Care Guidelines for Hematopoietic Growth Factors. These guidelines document evidence-based, consensus-driven
management to ensure that all patients receive preventive, diagnostic, treatment, and supportive services that are most likely to lead to optimal outcomes.

In June 2020, the Company entered into a three-year co-promotion agreement for COSELA in the United States and Puerto Rico with Boehringer
Ingelheim. The agreement is limited to support for SCLC. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will book revenue in the United States and
Puerto Rico and retain development and commercialization rights to trilaciclib. The Company will lead marketing, market access and medical engagement
initiatives; Boehringer Ingelheim will lead sales force engagements.

In August 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Nanjing Simcere Dongyuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (“Simcere”) for
development and commercialization rights for trilaciclib in all indications in Greater China (mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan). Under the
terms of the agreement, the Company received an upfront payment of $14.0 million in September 2020, and will be eligible to receive up to $156.0 million
in development and commercial milestone payments. During the first half of 2021, the Company received three development milestone payments totaling
$8.0 million. Simcere will also pay the Company tiered low double-digit royalties on annual net sales of trilaciclib in Greater China. As part of this
agreement, Simcere will participate in global clinical trials of trilaciclib and the companies will be responsible for all development and commercialization
costs in their respective territories.
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The Company is also executing on its tumor-agnostic strategy to evaluate the potential benefits of providing trilaciclib to patients with other tumors that are
treated with chemotherapy. The Company has five on-going clinical trials: a pivotal trial in 1L CRC, a pivotal trial in mTNBC (including 1L and 2L
patients), a Phase 2 trial in neoadjuvant breast cancer (I-SPY 2), a Phase 2 trial in 2L/3L NSCLC in post-checkpoint patients, and a Phase 2 trial in 1L
bladder cancer with chemotherapy and a checkpoint inhibitor. These studies across treatment settings and tumor types will evaluate trilaciclib’s dual
benefits in both multi-lineage myeloprotection and anti-tumor efficacy.

Rintodestrant

Rintodestrant is an oral selective estrogen receptor degrader (“SERD”) for the treatment of estrogen receptor-positive (“ER+”) breast cancer. It is a Phase 2
compound being developed as a monotherapy and in combination with CDK4/6 inhibitors, initially Ibrance® (palbociclib), for the treatment of ER+ breast
cancer. In 2018, the Company initiated a Phase 1/2a (dose escalation/dose expansion) clinical trial in ER+, HER2- breast cancer. Preliminary data from the
Phase 1 portion of this trial were presented at the 2019 ESMO Congress, showing that rintodestrant was well tolerated and demonstrated evidence of anti-
tumor activity in heavily pre-treated patients. The mature monotherapy data were presented at the 2020 San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium
(“SABCS”) conference, confirming the safety and efficacy results of the preliminary analysis. Based on these findings the Company advanced an 800 mg
dose of rintodestrant into a 40-patient Phase 1b combination arm with palbociclib, a CDK4/6 inhibitor, safety and antitumor activity data from which were
presented at the 2021 American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) annual virtual meeting. The Company is in the process of evaluating partnering
options for rintodestrant.

Lerociclib

Lerociclib is a differentiated clinical-stage oral CDK4/6 inhibitor for use in combination with other targeted therapies in multiple oncology indications. In
2020, the Company entered into separate, exclusive agreements with EQRx, Inc. (rights for U.S., Europe, Japan and all markets outside Asia-Pacific) and
Genor Biopharma Co. Inc. (rights for Asia-Pacific, excluding Japan) for the development and commercialization of lerociclib in all indications. Combined,
these agreements provided $26.0 million in upfront payments to the Company in 2020, and provide up to $330.0 million in potential milestone payments,
plus sales-based royalties. EQRx, Inc. and Genor Biopharma Co. Inc. are responsible for all costs related to the development and commercialization of
lerociclib in their respective territories.
 

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). In the opinion of management, the Company has made all necessary adjustments, which include normal
recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position and results of operations for the interim periods presented. 

The information presented in the condensed financial statements and related notes as of June 30, 2021, and for the three and six months ended June 30,
2021 and 2020, is unaudited. The results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full
fiscal year or any future period. These interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes set forth in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed with the SEC on February 24, 2021, (the “2020 Form 10-K”). The
December 31, 2020 condensed balance sheet included herein was derived from the audited financial statements as of that date, but does not include all
disclosures, including notes, required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to current
presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, the Company’s management evaluates its estimates which include,
but are not limited to, estimates related to accrued expenses, accrued external clinical costs, net revenues, stock-based compensation expense and deferred
tax asset valuation allowance.  The Company bases its estimates on
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historical experience and other market specific or other relevant assumptions it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable consists of amounts due from specialty distributors in the U.S. (collectively, its “Customers”) related to sales of
COSELA and have standard payment terms. Trade receivables are recorded net of the estimated variable consideration for chargebacks based on
contractual terms and the Company’s expectation regarding the utilization and earnings of the chargebacks and discounts as well as the net amount
expected to be collected from the Company’s customers. Estimates of the Company’s credit losses are determined based on existing contractual payment
terms, individual customer circumstances, and any changes to the economic environment.

In addition, the Company’s accounts receivable consists of open invoices issued to its license partners for services rendered by the Company or receivables
with its license partners for invoices related to milestones that were completed and recognized as revenue.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and recognized on a weighted-average cost method. The Company uses actual cost to
determine the cost basis for inventory. Inventory is capitalized based on when future economic benefit is expected to be realized. Due to the nature of the
Company’s supply chain process, inventory that is owned by the Company, is physically stored at third-party warehouses, logistics providers, and contract
manufacturers. The Company began capitalizing inventory upon receiving FDA approval for COSELA on February 12, 2021. Prior to FDA approval of
COSELA, expenses associated with the manufacturing of the Company's products were recorded as research and development expense.

Inventory valuation reserves are established based on a number of factors including, but not limited to, finished goods not meeting product specifications,
product excess and obsolescence, or application of the lower of cost or net realizable value concepts. The determination of events requiring the
establishment of inventory valuation reserves, together with the calculation of the amount of such reserves may require judgment. The Company analyzes
its inventory levels on a periodic basis to determine if any inventory is at risk for expiration prior to sale or has a cost basis that is greater than its estimated
future net realizable value. Any adjustments are recognized through cost of sales in the period in which they are incurred. No inventory valuation reserves
have been recorded for any periods presented.

Revenue Recognition

For elements of those arrangements that the Company determines should be accounted for under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC
606”), the Company assesses which activities in its license or collaboration agreements are performance obligations that should be accounted for separately
and determines the transaction price of the arrangement, which includes the assessment of the probability of achievement of future milestones and other
potential consideration. For arrangements that include multiple performance obligations, such as granting a license or performing manufacturing or
research and development activities, the Company allocates the transaction price based on the relative standalone selling price and recognizes revenue that
is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) control is transferred to the customer and the performance obligation is satisfied.
Accordingly, the Company develops assumptions that require judgment to determine the standalone selling price for each performance obligation identified
in the contract. These key assumptions may include revenue forecasts, clinical development timelines and costs, discount rates and probabilities of clinical
and regulatory success.

License Revenue

Licenses of Intellectual Property

If a license to the Company’s intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in the arrangement, the
Company recognizes revenue allocated to the license when the license is transferred to the customer and the customer is able to use and benefit from the
license. For licenses that are bundled with other promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to
determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring
progress for purposes of recognizing revenue associated with the bundled performance obligation. The Company evaluates the measure of progress each
reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of progress and related revenue recognition.

Milestone Payments
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At the inception of each arrangement that includes developmental and regulatory milestone payments, the Company evaluates whether the achievement of
each milestone specifically relates to the Company’s efforts to satisfy a performance obligation or transfer a distinct good or service within a performance
obligation. The Company evaluates each milestone to determine when and how much of the milestone to include in the transaction price. The Company
first estimates the amount of the milestone payment that the Company could receive using either the expected value or the most likely amount approach.
The Company primarily uses the most likely amount approach as that approach is generally most predictive for milestone payments with a binary outcome.
Then, the Company considers whether any portion of that estimated amount is subject to the variable consideration constraint (that is, whether it is probable
that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue would not occur upon resolution of the uncertainty). The Company updates the estimate of variable
consideration included in the transaction price at each reporting date which includes updating the assessment of the likely amount of consideration and the
application of the constraint to reflect current facts and circumstances.

Royalties

For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based on the level of sales, and the license is deemed to be the
predominant item to which the royalties relate, the Company will recognize revenue at the later of (i) when the related sales occur, or (ii) when the
performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied). To date, the Company has not
recognized any revenue related to sales-based royalties or milestone payments based on the level of sales.

Product Sales, Net

The Company sells COSELA to specialty distributors in the U.S. and, in accordance with ASC 606, recognizes revenue at the point in time when the
customer is deemed to have obtained control of the product. The customer is deemed to have obtained control of the product at the time of physical receipt
of the product at the customers’ distribution facilities, or Free on Board (“FOB”) destination, the terms of which are designated in the contract.

Product sales are recorded at the net selling price, which includes estimates of variable consideration for which reserves are established for (a) rebates and
chargebacks, (b) co-pay assistance programs, (c) distribution fees, (d) product returns, and (e) other discounts. Where appropriate, these estimates take into
consideration a range of possible outcomes which are probability-weighted for relevant factors such as current contractual and statutory requirements, and
forecasted customer buying and payment patterns. Overall, these reserves reflect the Company’s best estimates of the amount of consideration to which it is
entitled based on the terms of the applicable contract. The amount of variable consideration may be constrained and is included in the net sales price only to
the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue recognized will not occur in a future period. Actual amounts
of consideration ultimately received may differ from the Company's estimates. If actual results in the future vary from estimates, the Company adjusts these
estimates, which would affect net product revenue and earnings in the period such variances become known.

Liabilities related to co-pay assistance, rebates, and GPO fees are classified as “Accrued Expenses” in the Condensed Balance Sheets. Discounts such as
chargebacks, returns, and specialty distributor fees are recorded as a reduction to trade accounts receivable, which is included in “Accounts Receivable” in
the Condensed Balance Sheets.

Forms of Variable Consideration

Rebates and Chargebacks: The Company estimates reductions to product sales for Public Health Service Institutions, such as Medicaid, Medicare and
Veterans Administration (“VA”) programs, as well as certain other qualifying federal and state government programs, and other group purchasing
organizations. The Company estimates these reductions based upon the Company’s contracts with government agencies and other organizations, statutorily
defined discounts and estimated payor mix. These organizations purchase directly from the Company’s specialty distributors at a discount and the specialty
distributors charge the Company back the difference between the wholesaler price and the discounted price. The Company’s liability for Medicaid rebates
consists of estimates for claims that a state will make. The Company’s reserve for this discounted pricing is based on expected sales to qualified healthcare
providers and the chargebacks that customers have already claimed.

Co-pay assistance: Eligible patients who have commercial insurance may receive assistance from the Company to reduce the patient’s out of pocket costs.
Liabilities for co-pay assistance are calculated by actual program participation from third-party administrators.

Distribution Fees: The Company has written contracts with its customers that include terms for distribution fees and costs for inventory management. The
Company estimates and records distribution fees due to its customers based on gross sales.

Product Returns: The Company generally offers a right of return based on the product’s expiration date and certain spoilage and damaged instances. The
Company estimates the amount of product sales that may be returned and records the estimate as a reduction of product sales in the period the related
product sales are recognized. The Company’s estimates for expected returns are based primarily on an ongoing analysis of sales information and visibility
into the inventory remaining in the distribution channel.
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Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold includes direct and indirect costs related to the manufacturing and distribution of COSELA, including third-party manufacturing costs,
packaging services, freight-in, third-party logistics costs associated with COSELA, and Company personnel costs. Cost of goods sold may also include
period costs related to certain inventory manufacturing services and inventory adjustment charges. In connection with the FDA approval of COSELA on
February 12, 2021, the Company subsequently began capitalizing inventory manufactured or purchased after this date. As a result, certain manufacturing
costs associated with product shipments of COSELA were expensed prior to FDA approval and, therefore, are not included in cost of goods sold during the
current period.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred to further the Company’s research and development activities and include salaries and related
employee benefits, manufacturing of pharmaceutical active ingredients and drug products, costs associated with clinical trials, nonclinical activities,
regulatory activities, research-related overhead expenses and fees paid to expert consultants, external service providers and contract research organizations
which conduct certain research and development activities on behalf of the Company. Costs incurred in the research and development of products are
charged to research and development expense as incurred.

Each reporting period, management estimated and accrued research and development expenses, including external clinical study costs associated with
clinical trial activities. The process of estimating and accruing expenses involves reviewing contracts and purchase orders, identifying services that have
been provided on the Company’s behalf, and estimating the level of service performed and the associated cost incurred for the service when the Company
has not yet been invoiced or otherwise notified of the actual costs.

Costs for clinical trial activities were estimated based on an evaluation of vendors’ progress towards completion of specific tasks, using data such as patient
enrollment, clinical site activations or information provided by vendors regarding their actual costs incurred. Payments for these activities are based on the
terms of individual contracts and payment timing may differ significantly from the period in which the services were performed. The Company determines
accrual estimates through reports from and discussions with applicable personnel and outside service providers as to the progress or state of completion of
trials, or the services completed. The estimates of accrued external clinical study costs as of each balance sheet date are based on the facts and
circumstances known at the time.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to temporary differences between the financial statements carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, operating
loss carryforwards, and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Accounting for Income Taxes, the
Company reflects in the financial statements the benefit of positions taken in a previously filed tax return or expected to be taken in a future tax return only
when it is considered ‘more-likely-than-not’ that the position taken will be sustained by a taxing authority. As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the
Company had no unrecognized income tax benefits and correspondingly there is no impact on the Company’s effective income tax rate associated with
these items. The Company’s policy for recording interest and penalties relating to uncertain income tax positions is to record them as a component of
income tax expense in the accompanying statements of operations. As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company had no such accruals.

Income tax expense recognized during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 related to the foreign withholding taxes incurred as a result of the
Simcere milestone payments received during the period. See Note 11 for further detail.

Stock-Based Compensation

The primary type of stock-based payments utilized by the Company are stock options. The Company accounts for stock-based employee compensation
arrangements by measuring the cost of employee services received in exchange for all equity awards granted based on the fair value of the award on the
grant date. The fair value of each employee stock option is estimated on the date of grant using an options pricing model. The Company currently uses the
Black-Scholes valuation model to estimate the fair value of its share-based payments. The model requires management to make a number of assumptions
including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.

9



 

The Company also incurs stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted to employees. The fair value of RSUs is
determined by the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and then recognized over the requisite service period of the
award.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense over the estimated life of the related debt based on the effective interest method. In accordance with
ASC 835, Interest, the Company presents debt issuance costs on the condensed balance sheet as a direct deduction from the associated debt.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) Impact on Operations

The Company has implemented business continuity plans to address the COVID-19 pandemic and minimize disruptions to ongoing operations. Enrollment
of patients in current and future clinical trials may be impacted by COVID-19. The Company does not anticipate significant supply chain delays or
shortages as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 travel limitations and government-mandated work-from-home or shelter-in-place orders, may
reduce the number of in-person meetings with prescribers and fewer patient visits with physicians, potentially resulting in fewer new prescriptions.
The Company established a COVID-19 response team which continually monitors the impact of COVID-19 on its operations.  The COVID-19 response
team manages workplace protocols that govern employees’ use of the Company’s office. To mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on its business, the
Company put in place the following safety measures for its employees, patients, healthcare professionals, and suppliers to limit exposure: the Company
substantially restricted travel, supplied personal protective equipment to employees, limited access to its headquarters and asked most of its staff to work
remotely. In addition, the Company added bandwidth and VPN capacity to its infrastructure to facilitate remote work arrangements. The Company will
continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on its operations and report to its Board of Directors regularly on the progress of its response to the COVID-
19 outbreak.

 

3. Fair Value Measurements

The Company provides disclosure of financial assets and financial liabilities that are carried at fair value based on the price that would be received upon
sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements may
be classified based on the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and liabilities using the following three levels:

Level 1 Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability and inputs that are derived principally
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s estimates of the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability. The Company develops these inputs based on the best information available, including its own data.

The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value because of their short-term nature.
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At June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 these financial instruments and respective fair values have been classified as follows (in thousands):
 

 

 

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical

assets
(Level 1)   

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
other

unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)   

Balance at
June 30,

2021  
Assets                 

Money market funds  $ 119,001  $ —  $ —  $ 119,001 
Certificates of Deposit   15,981   —   —   15,981 

Total assets at fair value:  $ 134,982  $ —  $ —  $ 134,982
 

 
 

 

 

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical

assets
(Level 1)   

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)   

Significant
other

unobservable
inputs

(Level 3)   

Balance at
December 31,

2020  
Assets                 

Money market funds  $ 190,180  $ —  $ —  $ 190,180 
Certificates of Deposit   15,970   —   —   15,970 

Total assets at fair value:  $ 206,150  $ —  $ —  $ 206,150
 

 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, there were no changes in valuation methodology.
 
The Loan Payable (discussed in Note 8), which is classified as a Level 3 liability, has a variable interest rate and the carrying value approximates its fair
value. As of June 30, 2021, the carrying value was $30.1 million.

 

4. Inventories

Inventories as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 consist of the following (in thousands):
  June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020  
         
Raw materials  $ —  $ — 
Work in process   1,361   — 
Finished goods   41   — 

Inventories  $ 1,402  $ —
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The Company uses third party contract manufacturing organizations for the production of its raw materials, active pharmaceutical ingredients, and finished
drug product which the Company owns. Costs incurred by the Company for manufacturing of initial commercial product of COSELA in preparation of
commercial launch were expensed prior to FDA approval.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):
 
 

  June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020  
         
Computer equipment  $ 327  $ 327 
Laboratory equipment   334   334 
Furniture and fixtures   866   866 
Leasehold improvements   1,782   1,782 
Accumulated depreciation   (1,065)   (827)

Property and equipment, net  $ 2,244  $ 2,482
 

 
Depreciation expense relating to property and equipment was $118 thousand and $238 thousand for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021,
respectively, and $158 thousand and $317 thousand for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 , respectively. 

6. Patent License Agreement

On November 23, 2016, the Company entered into a license agreement with the Board of Trustees of the University of Illinois (“the University”), which
was amended on March 24, 2017.  Pursuant to the license agreement, as amended, the University licensed patent rights to the Company, with rights of
sublicense, to make, have made, use, import, sell and offer for sale products covered by certain patent rights owned by the University. The rights licensed to
the Company are exclusive, worldwide, non-transferable rights, for all fields of use. Under the terms of the agreement the Company paid a one-time only,
non-refundable license issue fee in the amount of $0.5 million which was charged to research and development expense in the fourth quarter of 2016.

The Company is also obligated to pay annual maintenance fees to the University. All annual minimum payments are fully creditable against any royalty
payments made by the Company. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company must pay the University a royalty percentage on all net sales of products
and a share of sublicensing revenues. In addition, the University is eligible to receive milestone payments of up to $2.6 million related to the initiation and
execution of clinical trials and the first commercial sale of a product in another country. To date, the Company has made milestone payments totaling $0.6
million, of which $0 million was incurred during the current quarter. The Company will be responsible for any future patent prosecution costs that may
arise.

The term of the license agreement will continue until the later of (i) the expiration of the last valid claim within the patent rights covering the product in
such country, (ii) the expiration of market exclusivity in such country and (iii) the 10th anniversary of the first commercial sale in such country. The
University may terminate the agreement in the event (i) the Company fails to pay any amount or make any report when required to be made and fails to
cure such failure within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice from the University, (ii) is in breach of any provision of the agreement and fails to remedy
within forty-five (45) days after receipt of notice, (iii) makes a report to the University under the agreement that is determined to be materially false,
(iv) declares insolvency or bankruptcy or (v) takes an action that causes patent rights or technical information to be subject to lien or encumbrance and fails
to remedy any such breach within forty-five (45) days of receipt of notice from the University. The Company may terminate the agreement at any time on
written notice to the University at least ninety (90) days prior to the termination date specified in the notice. Upon expiration or termination of the
agreement, all rights revert to the University.
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7. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses are comprised as follows (in thousands):
 
 

  June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020  
         
Accrued external research  $ 1,361  $ 3,219 
Accrued professional fees and other   7,150   3,920 
Accrued external clinical study costs   7,548   5,683 
Accrued compensation expense   2,507   3,664 

Accrued expenses  $ 18,566  $ 16,486
 

 

8. Loan Payable

On May 29, 2020, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Hercules Capital, Inc. (“Hercules”), under which
Hercules has agreed to lend the Company up to $100.0 million, to be made available in a series of tranches, subject to certain terms and conditions. The
first tranche totals $30.0 million, of which the Company received $20.0 million at closing. Upon initiation of the phase 3 trial of COSELA for metastatic
colorectal cancer and receiving FDA approval for COSELA for small cell lung cancer (“the Performance Milestone”), the second tranche of $20.0 million
became available to the Company for drawdown through December 15, 2021. The third tranche of $30.0 million will be available through December 31,
2022. The fourth tranche of $20.0 million will be available at Hercules’ approval through December 31, 2022. On March 31, 2021, the Company entered
into the First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the “First Amendment”) with Hercules whereby the Company drew the remaining $10.0
million of the first tranche and the interest rate and financial covenants were amended. Unless loan advances by the Company exceed $40.0 million, no
financial covenants are required. As of June 30, 2021, no financial covenants apply as the Company had only drawn down on the first tranche.

Amounts borrowed under the original Loan Agreement will bear an interest rate equal to the greater of either (i) (a) the prime rate as reported in The Wall
Street Journal, plus (b) 6.40%, and (ii) 9.65%. Based on original terms of the Loan Agreement, the Company will make interest only payments through
June 1, 2022 and following the interest only period, the Company will repay the principal balance and interest of the advances in equal monthly
installments through June 1, 2024. Based on the original terms of the Loan Agreement, upon satisfaction of the Performance Milestone, the interest only
period was extended through January 1, 2023 and the maturity date was extended to June 1, 2025. Upon entering into the First Amendment on March 31,
2021, the interest rate was amended to be equal to the greater of either (i) (a) the prime rate as reported in The Wall Street Journal, plus (b) 6.20%, and (ii)
9.45%.

The Company may prepay advances under the Loan Agreement, in whole or in part, at any time subject to a prepayment charge equal to (a) 3.0% of the
prepayment amount in the first year; (b) 2.0% of the prepayment amount in the second year; and (c) 1.0% of the prepayment amount in the third year.

Upon prepayment or repayment of all or any of the advances under the Loan Agreement, the Company will pay (in addition to the prepayment charge) an
end of term charge of 6.95% of the aggregate funded amount. With respect to the first tranche, the end of term charge of $2.1 million will be payable upon
any prepayment or repayment. To the extent that the Company is provided additional advances under the Loan Agreement, the 6.95% end of term charge
will be applied to such additional amounts. These amounts will be accrued over the term of the loan using effective-interest method.

The Loan Agreement is secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets, including intellectual property, subject to certain exemptions. The Company
out-licensed lerociclib as permitted in the Loan Agreement and the Company may out-license rintodestrant upon approval of the licensing terms by
Hercules.

The Company incurred financing expenses of $0.4 million related to the Loan Agreement which are recorded as debt issuance costs and as a direct
reduction to long-term debt on the Company’s unaudited condensed balance sheet. Upon issuance, the Company treated $0.2 million of the upfront facility
fee that related to the initial $20.0 million drawn as a debt discount and treating it in the same way as debt issuance costs. The remainder of the facility fee
is related to future undrawn tranches and is accounted for as a deferred financing charge. Upon entering into the First Amendment, the Company incurred
additional financing expenses of $0.1 million which were recorded as debt issuance costs. Also, in conjunction with the First Amendment, $0.1 million of
the upfront facility fee previously recorded as a deferred financing charge was reclassified as a debt issuance cost since that amount related to the remainder
of the first tranche which was drawn at the amendment date.
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Upon issuance, the first tranche was recorded as a liability with an initial carrying value of $19.4 million, net of debt discount and debt issuance costs.
Upon entering into the First Amendment, the carrying value increased by $9.8 million, net of debt discount and debt issuance costs. The carrying value is
accreted to the repayment amount, which includes the outstanding principal plus the end of term charge, through interest expense using the effective-
interest method over the term of the debt. During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized $1.7 million of interest expense related to
the Loan Agreement, which is reflected in other income (expense), net on the unaudited condensed statements of operations.
 
 
As of June 30, 2021 the carrying value and repayment maturities due under the Loan Agreement, excluding interest, is as follows:
 

  Amount  
     

Remainder of 2020  $ — 
2021   — 
2022   — 
2023   11,127 
2024   12,236 
2025   6,637 
Total principal outstanding   30,000 
End of term charge   691 
Unamortized debt issuance costs   (598)
Total  $ 30,093

 

 

9. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 120.0 million shares of common stock. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share.  Holders of
common stock are entitled to receive dividends, as, if and when declared by the Company’s Board of Directors.  
On June 15, 2018, the Company entered into a sales agreement for “at the market offerings” with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”), which allowed
the Company to issue and sell shares of common stock pursuant to a shelf registration statement for total gross sales proceeds of up to $125.0 million from
time to time through Cowen, acting as its agent. Between January 14, 2021 and February 9, 2021, the Company sold 3,513,027 shares of common stock
pursuant to this agreement resulting in $86.4 million in net proceeds. As of February 9, 2021, the Company has used the entirety of the remaining
availability under the 2018 sales agreement with Cowen.
 
On July 2, 2021, the Company entered into a new sales agreement for “at the market offerings” with Cowen, which allows the Company to issue and sell
shares of common stock pursuant to a shelf registration statement for total gross sales proceeds of up to $150.0 million from time to time through Cowen,
acting as its agent. The Company has not sold any shares of common stock under the 2021 sales agreement.
 
Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 5.0 million shares of undesignated preferred stock in one or more series. As of June 30, 2021, no shares of preferred
stock were issued or outstanding.
 

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

The Company has reserved authorized shares of common stock for future issuance at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 as follows:
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  June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020  
         

Common stock options outstanding   7,058,791   6,644,780 
RSUs outstanding   472,967   — 
Options and RSUs available for grant under Equity Incentive Plans   1,062,422   932,051 
   8,594,180   7,576,831

 

 

10. Stock-Based Compensation

2011 Equity Incentive Plan

In March 2011, the Company adopted the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”). The 2011 Plan provided for the direct award or sale of the
Company’s common stock and for the grant of stock options to employees, directors, officers, consultants and advisors of the Company.  The 2011 Plan
was subsequently amended in August 2012, October 2013, February 2015, December 2015, April 2016 and November 2016 to allow for the issuance of
additional shares of common stock.  In connection with the adoption of the 2017 Plan (as defined below), the 2011 Plan was terminated and no further
awards will be made under the 2011 Plan.

2017 Equity Incentive Plan

In May 2017, the Company adopted the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”). The 2017 Plan provided for the direct award or sale of the
Company’s common stock and for the grant of up to 1,932,000 stock options to employees, directors, officers, consultants and advisors of the
Company.  The 2017 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options or restricted stock.  Effective January 1, 2021, and
in accordance with the “evergreen” provision of the 2017 Plan, an additional 1,096,553 shares were made available for issuance.

Under both the 2011 Plan and the 2017 Plan, options to purchase the Company’s common stock may be granted at a price no less than the fair market value
of a share of common stock on the date of grant.  The fair value shall be the closing sales price for a share as quoted on any established securities exchange
for such grant date or the last preceding date for which such quotation exists.  Vesting terms of options issued are determined by the Board of Directors or
Compensation Committee of the Board.  The Company’s stock options vest based on terms in the stock option agreements.  Stock options have a maximum
term of ten years.

Beginning in January 2021, the Company began granting Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) under the 2017 Plan. RSUs are granted at the fair market value
of a share of common stock on the date of grant.

As of June 30, 2021, there were a total of 707,222 shares of common stock available for future issuance under the 2017 Plan

2021 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan

In February 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Inducement Plan”). The 2021 Inducement Plan provides
for the grant of up to 500,000 non-qualified options, stock grants, and stock-based awards to employees and directors of the Company. The 2021
Inducement Plan does not include an evergreen provision.

As of June 30, 2021, there were a total of 355,200 shares of common stock available for future issuance under the 2021 Inducement Plan.    
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company recognizes compensation costs related to stock options granted to employees based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of
grant, net of estimated forfeitures. The grant date fair value of the stock-based awards is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective awards.  Share-based awards granted to non-employee directors as compensation for
serving on the Company’s Board of Directors are accounted for in the same manner as employee share-based compensation awards.  

The Company calculates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires
the use of subjective assumptions, including the expected volatility of the Company’s common stock, the
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assumed dividend yield, the expected term of the Company’s stock options and the fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

The Company also incurs stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs. The fair value of RSUs is determined by the closing market price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant and then recognized over the requisite service period of the award.
 
The table below summarizes the stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company’s statement of operations by classification (in thousands):

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020   2021   2020  
       

Cost of goods sold  $ 126  $ —  $ 169  $ — 
Research and development   1,228   1,834   2,633   3,634 
Selling, general and administrative   4,340   2,533   8,784   5,460 

Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 5,694  $ 4,367  $ 11,586  $ 9,094
 

Stock options— Black-Scholes inputs

The fair value of stock options was estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and
June 30, 2020:

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020   2021   2020  
       

Expected volatility  78.6 - 79.6%   78.5 - 79.7%   78.3 - 79.6%   74.8 - 79.7%  
Weighted-average risk free rate  1.0 - 1.2%   0.4%   0.4 - 1.2%   0.4 - 1.7%  
Dividend yield  —%   —%   —%   —%  
Expected term (in years)   5.80   5.68   5.98   6.01

 

 
 
Stock Option Activity

The following table is a summary of the Stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2021:
          Weighted average  
      Weighted          
      average   Remaining   Aggregate  
  Options   exercise   contractual   intrinsic  
  outstanding   price   life (Years)   value  
              (in thousands)  

Balance as of December 31, 2020   6,644,780  $ 16.91   7.3  $ 35,464 
Granted   1,462,453  $ 19.21         
Cancelled   (419,238)   24.47         
Exercised   (629,204)   5.96         
Balance as of June 30, 2021   7,058,791  $ 17.91   7.5  $ 44,413 
Exercisable at December 31, 2020   3,542,190   12.94   6.0  $ 31,686 
Vested at December 31, 2020 and expected to vest   6,644,780   16.91   7.3  $ 35,464 
Exercisable at June 30, 2021   3,707,851   15.64   6.2  $ 34,287 
Vested at June 30, 2021 and expected to vest   7,058,791   17.91   7.5  $ 44,413

 

As of June 30, 2021, unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options totaled $42.5 million, which the Company expects to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.4 years.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company’s restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are considered nonvested share awards and require no payment from the employee. For each RSU,
employees receive one common share at the end of the vesting period. Compensation cost is recorded based on the
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market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

The following table is a summary of the RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2021:
      Weighted - Average  
  Number of   Fair Value  
  RSUs   per Share  
         

Balance as of December 31, 2020   —  $ — 
Granted   507,906   18.20 
Cancelled   (34,939)   18.07 
Vested   —   — 
Balance as of June 30, 2021   472,967  $ 18.21

 

 

As of June 30, 2021, there was $7.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to Company RSUs that are expected to vest. These costs are
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.9 years.
 

11. License Revenue
 
Genor License Agreement

On June 15, 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Genor Biopharma Co. Inc. (“Genor”) for the development and
commercialization of lerociclib in the Asia-Pacific region, excluding Japan (the “Genor Territory”). Under the license agreement, the Company granted to
Genor an exclusive, royalty-bearing, non-transferable license, with the right to grant sublicenses, to develop, obtain, hold and maintain regulatory approvals
for, and commercialize lerociclib, in the Genor Territory.
 
Under the license agreement, Genor agreed to pay the Company a non-refundable, upfront cash payment of $6.0 million with the potential to pay an
additional $40.0 million upon reaching certain development and commercial milestones. In addition, Genor will pay the Company tiered royalties ranging
from high single to low double-digits based on annual net sales of lerociclib in the Genor Territory. In September 2020, the Company transferred to Genor
the related technology and know-how that is necessary to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and commercialize lerociclib in the Genor Territory, which
resulted in the recognition of $6.0 million in revenue in accordance with ASC 606.
 
During the first quarter of 2021, the Company recognized $3.0 million of revenue related to a development milestone which occurred during the period.
Payment was received in April 2021.
 
EQRx License Agreement

On July 22, 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with EQRx, Inc. (“EQRx”) for the development and commercialization of
lerociclib in the U.S., Europe, Japan and all other global markets, excluding the Asia-Pacific region (except Japan) (the “EQRx Territory”). Under the
license agreement, the Company granted to EQRx an exclusive, royalty-bearing, non-transferable license, with the right to grant sublicenses, to develop,
obtain, hold and maintain regulatory approvals for, and commercialize lerociclib in the EQRx Territory.
 
Under the license agreement, EQRx agreed to pay the Company a non-refundable, upfront cash payment of $20.0 million with the potential to pay an
additional $290.0 million upon reaching certain development and commercial milestones. In addition, EQRx will pay the Company tiered royalties ranging
from mid-single digits to mid-teens based on annual net sales of lerociclib in the EQRx Territory. In September 2020, the Company transferred to EQRx the
related technology and know-how that is necessary to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and commercialize lerociclib in the EQRx Territory which
resulted in the recognition of $20.0 million in revenue in accordance with ASC 606. EQRx will be responsible for the development of the product in the
EQRx Territory. The Company will continue until completion, as the clinical trial sponsor, its two primary clinical trials at EQRx’s sole cost and expense.
EQRx will reimburse the Company for all of its out-of-pocket costs incurred after the effective date of the license agreement in connection with these
clinical trials. The Company will invoice EQRx within 30 days following the end of the quarter, and EQRx will pay within 30 days after its receipt of such
invoice.
 
For the six months ended June 30, 2021 the Company recognized revenue of $4.7 million related to the delivery of clinical drug supply and manufacturing
services and $1.4 million for the reimbursement of costs associated with the two primary clinical trials for
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lerociclib. The amounts for clinical drug supply and manufacturing services have been invoiced and paid. The amounts for clinical trial reimbursements
that occurred during the quarter are recognized as accounts receivable on the balance sheet as of June 30, 2021. No development and commercial
milestones, as defined by the agreement, have been achieved through June 30, 2021.
 
Simcere License Agreement

On August 3, 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Nanjing Simcere Dongyuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (“Simcere”) for
the development and commercialization of trilaciclib in all indications in Greater China (mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan) (the “Simcere
Territory”). Under the license agreement, the Company granted to Simcere an exclusive, royalty-bearing, non-transferable license, with the right to grant
sublicenses, to develop, obtain, hold and maintain regulatory approvals for, and commercialize trilaciclib in the Simcere Territory.
 
Under the license agreement, Simcere agreed to pay the Company a non-refundable, upfront cash payment of $14.0 million with the potential to pay an
additional $156.0 million upon reaching certain development and commercial milestones. In addition, Simcere will pay the Company tiered low double-
digit royalties on annual net sales of trilaciclib in the Simcere Territory. In accordance with ASC 606, the Company recognized the non-refundable, upfront
cash payment of $14.0 million (less applicable withholding taxes of $1.4 million) in 2020 as the Company had transferred the license and related
technology and know-how to Simcere.
 
Further, during the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized $8.0 million (less applicable withholding taxes of $0.8 million) related to
development milestones which were met during the period. As of June 30, 2021, cash was received for all development milestones.

12. Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period including nominal
issuances of common stock warrants. Diluted net loss per common share is computed using the sum of the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period and, if dilutive, the weighted average number of potential shares of common stock, including the assumed exercise of stock
options, stock warrants and unvested restricted common stock. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 the following potentially
dilutive securities have been excluded from the computations of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding because the effect would be anti-dilutive:

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020   2021   2020  
  (unaudited)   (unaudited)  

Stock options issued and outstanding   7,114,398   6,657,569   7,281,645   6,463,895 
Unvested RSUs   462,610   —   464,106   — 
Total potential dilutive shares   7,577,008   6,657,569   7,745,751   6,463,895

 

 
Amounts in the table above reflect the common stock equivalents of the noted instrument.
 

13. Income Taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate was (0.6)% and 0% for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 and (0.5%) and 0% for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Company continues to recognize losses in the United States and therefore, has recorded no tax benefit
associated with these losses. The only income tax expense recognized related to the foreign withholding taxes incurred as a result of the Simcere licensing
agreement. See Note 11 for further discussion on this transaction.
 

14. Related Party Transactions

The Company maintained a consulting agreement with a member of the Board of Directors for scientific advisory services outside of his role on the Board
of Directors that expired on June 30, 2021.  Effective July 1, 2021, the Company renewed its agreement with the member of the Board of Directors for
scientific, clinical and regulatory advisory services outside of his role on the Board of Directors through June 30, 2022.  

The Company entered into a senior advisor agreement on September 29, 2020 with Mark A. Velleca, M.D., Ph.D., a member of the Board of Directors,
with an effective date of January 1, 2021. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Dr. Velleca will receive $200,000 annually, paid in equal quarterly
installments, for his services. The senior advisor agreement will expire on December 31, 2023.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this quarterly report. This discussion and other parts of this quarterly report contain forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. As a result of many factors, including those factors
set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of our 2020 Form 10-K, and in our subsequently filed Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our actual results could
differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview

We are a commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of novel small molecule therapeutics for the
treatment of patients with cancer. Our first approved product by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), COSELA™ (trilaciclib), is the first and
only therapy indicated to proactively help protect bone marrow from the damage of chemotherapy and is the first innovation in managing myeloprotection
in decades. COSELA was developed from a technology platform that targets key cellular pathways including transient arrest of the cell cycle at G1, prior to
the beginning of DNA replication. Our therapies are designed to improve outcomes for patients across multiple oncology indications.

We shall use “COSELA” when we are referring to our FDA approved drug and “trilaciclib” when we are referring to our development of COSELA for
additional indications.  

Product Pipeline

Trilaciclib is a first-in-class therapy designed to help protect against chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression. Trilaciclib helps protect HSPCs in bone
marrow by transiently inhibiting CDK4/6 leading to a temporary arrest of susceptible host cells during chemotherapy in ES-SCLC patients.  This reduces
the duration and severity of neutropenia and other myelosuppressive consequences of chemotherapy. In addition, trilaciclib activates and enhances the
immune system response driving increased anti-tumor efficacy, which we continue to explore in clinical trials.

On February 12, 2021, COSELA was approved by the FDA to decrease the incidence of chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression in adult patients treated
with a platinum/etoposide-containing regimen or topotecan-containing regimen for extensive stage small cell lung cancer (“ES-SCLC”). We are also
exploring potential use of trilaciclib in a variety of tumors, including colorectal cancer (“CRC”), metastatic triple negative breast cancer (“mTNBC”),
neoadjuvant breast cancer, non-small cell lung cancer (“NSCLC”), and bladder cancer.

Rintodestrant is an oral selective estrogen receptor degrader (“SERD”) for the treatment of ER+ breast cancer. We are in the process of evaluating
partnering options for rintodestrant. In 2020, we out-licensed global rights to lerociclib, an internally discovered and differentiated oral CDK4/6 inhibitor
designed to enable more effective combination treatment strategies across multiple oncology indications.  We also have intellectual property focused on
cyclin-dependent kinase targets.
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G1 Therapeutics Product Pipeline

Candidate  Indication  Status
Development & Commercialization Rights

(all indications)

trilaciclib

 Extensive-stage small cell
lung cancer (ES-SCLC)

 COSELA
(trilaciclib) 
Approved by
FDA

 
 
 
 
 
 

G1 Therapeutics owns all global development and commercial
rights across all indications, with the exception of Greater China

(Simcere)

 
Colorectal cancer (CRC)  Registrational

trial
ongoing

 

1L/2L metastatic Triple
negative breast cancer
(mTNBC)

 Registrational
trial
ongoing

 
2L/3L Non-small cell lung
cancer (NSCLC)

 Phase 2 trial
ongoing

 
1L Bladder cancer  Phase 2 trial

ongoing

 
Neoadjuvant breast cancer
(I-SPY 2 TRIAL™)  Phase 2 trial

ongoing

rintodestrant
 

ER+, HER2- breast cancer
 Phase 1b
complete            

 
G1 - Global

lerociclib

 

Multiple

 

Clinical Stage

 
EQRx:  Global and Japan (ex. Asia Pacific)

 
Genor Biopharma:  Asia Pacific (ex. Japan)

 

Trilaciclib helps protect HSPCs in bone marrow by transiently inhibiting CDK4/6 leading to a temporary arrest of susceptible host cells during
chemotherapy in ES-SCLC patients.  This reduces the duration and severity of neutropenia and other myelosuppressive consequences of
chemotherapy. In addition, trilaciclib has demonstrated immune system response enhancement which we are exploring in clinical trials to show
increased anti-tumor efficacy.

Trilaciclib, a transient IV CDK4/6 inhibitor, is a novel therapeutic approach which is given before chemotherapy that temporarily blocks progression
through the cell cycle. This provides two benefits. First, it proactively helps protect HSPCs in bone marrow leading to preservation of neutrophils,
erythrocytes, and platelets (called myeloprotection) which reduces the occurrences and severity of neutropenia and other myelosuppressive consequences
of chemotherapy. This myeloprotection benefit has been conclusively proven in double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trials in extensive-stage small cell
lung cancer. Second, trilaciclib activates and enhances the immune system response driving increased anti-tumor efficacy, which we are exploring in
clinical trials. Our randomized clinical trials have demonstrated that trilaciclib can provide myeloprotection benefits and has the potential to improve
survival as a result of its anti-tumor efficacy benefit.

Chemotherapy is an effective and important weapon against cancer. However, chemotherapy does not differentiate between healthy cells and cancer cells
and kills both, including important stem cells in the bone marrow (namely, HSPCs) that produce white blood cells, red blood cells and platelets, and
immune cells. This chemotherapy-induced bone marrow damage is known as myelosuppression. When white blood cells, red blood cells and platelets
become depleted, chemotherapy patients are at increased risk of infection, experience anemia and fatigue, and are at increased risk of bleeding.
Myelosuppression often requires the administration of rescue interventions such as growth factors and blood or platelet transfusions and may also result in
chemotherapy dose delays and reductions. Immune cell damage may decrease the ability of the immune system to fight the cancer, as well as infection.

On February 12, 2021, COSELA™ was approved by the FDA to decrease the incidence of chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression in adult patients when
administered prior to a platinum/etoposide-containing regimen or topotecan-containing regimen for extensive-stage small cell lung cancer (“ES-SCLC”).
COSELA became commercially available through G1’s specialty distributor network on March 2, 2021. COSELA is administered intravenously as a 30-
minute infusion completed within four (4) hours prior to the start of chemotherapy and is the first and only FDA-approved therapy that helps proactively
deliver multilineage myeloprotection to patients with ES-SCLC being treated with chemotherapy. The approval of COSELA is based on data from three (3)
randomized, placebo-controlled trials that showed patients receiving COSELA prior to chemotherapy had clinically meaningful and statistically significant
reduction in the duration and severity of neutropenia, reduction of red blood cell transfusions, as well as improvements in other
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myeloprotection measures, compared to patients receiving chemotherapy without COSELA. G1 announced on March 25, 2021 that COSELA had been
included in two updated National Comprehensive Cancer Network® (“NCCN”) Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology (NCCN Guidelines®): The
Treatment Guidelines for Small Cell Lung Cancer and the Supportive Care Guidelines for Hematopoietic Growth Factors. These guidelines document
evidence-based, consensus-driven management to ensure that all patients receive preventive, diagnostic, treatment, and supportive services that are most
likely to lead to optimal outcomes.

In June 2020, we entered into a three-year co-promotion agreement for COSELA™ (trilaciclib) in the United States and Puerto Rico with Boehringer
Ingelheim. The agreement is limited to support for SCLC. Under the terms of the agreement, we will book revenue in the United States and Puerto Rico
and retain development and commercialization rights to trilaciclib. We will lead marketing, market access and medical engagement initiatives; Boehringer
Ingelheim will lead sales force engagements.

In August 2020, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Nanjing Simcere Dongyuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (“Simcere”) for development
and commercialization rights for trilaciclib in all indications in Greater China (mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan). Under the terms of the
agreement, we received an upfront payment of $14.0 million and will be eligible to receive up to $156.0 million in development and commercial milestone
payments. Simcere will also pay us tiered low double-digit royalties on annual net sales of trilaciclib in Greater China. As part of the agreement, Simcere
will participate in global clinical trials of trilaciclib and the companies will be responsible for all development and commercialization costs in their
respective territories.

We are also executing on our tumor-agnostic strategy to evaluate the potential benefits of trilaciclib to patients with other tumors that are treated with
chemotherapy. We have five ongoing clinical trials: a pivotal trial in 1L colorectal cancer (“CRC”), a pivotal trial in mTNBC (including 1L and 2L
patients), a Phase 2 trial in neoadjuvant breast cancer (“I-SPY 2”), a Phase 2 trial in 2L/3L non-small cell lung cancer (“NSCLC”) in post-checkpoint
patients, and a Phase 2 1L bladder cancer trial with chemotherapy and a checkpoint inhibitor. These studies across treatment settings and tumor types will
evaluate trilaciclib’s dual benefits in both multi-lineage myeloprotection and anti-tumor efficacy.

Pivotal 1L Colorectal Cancer (“CRC”)

We are enrolling patients in PRESERVE 1, a randomized, placebo-controlled registrational trial of trilaciclib in CRC. CRC is a large indication commonly
treated with 5-FU-based chemotherapy. We have extensive preclinical research demonstrating myeloprotection and potential efficacy in 5-FU-based
regimens with trilaciclib. Our ongoing 1L CRC trial is with FOLFOXIRI, which is the most efficacious chemo regimen in this tumor but is also highly
myelosuppressive. By reducing the toxicity of FOLFOXIRI, we believe we will significantly expand its use in CRC and potentially improve overall
survival.

1L/2L Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer (“mTNBC”)

In 2017, we initiated a randomized Phase 2 trial of trilaciclib in patients with first-/second-/third-line mTNBC receiving gemcitabine (“GC”) and
carboplatin.  Enrollment was completed in the second quarter of 2018. At the 2018 SABCS, we presented preliminary trilaciclib data demonstrating
improvement in progression-free survival (“PFS”). In September 2019, we presented updated data demonstrating significant improvement in OS
(preliminary). Though the trial did not meet the primary myeloprotection endpoints, patients receiving trilaciclib were able to receive approximately 50%
more cycles of chemotherapy, without additional hematological toxicity. These data were presented at the 2019 ESMO Congress and were concurrently
published in The Lancet Oncology. Updated safety and efficacy data from this trial were presented at the 2020 SABCS. Data included that compared to GC
alone (Group 1), OS was improved in both trilaciclib arms (Groups 2 and 3) (Group 2: HR=0.31, p=0.0016; Group 3: HR=0.40, p=0.0004). Median OS
was 12.6 months in Group 1, not reached for Group 2, and 17.8 months in Group 3. The median OS for Groups 2 and 3 combined was 19.8 months
(HR=0.37, p<0.0001). OS findings in patients receiving trilaciclib were consistent with previously reported data from this trial. The median OS for GC
alone (Group 1, 12.6 months) was consistent with the previous trial findings and historical data. Patients with both PD-L1-positive and PD-L1-negative
tumors treated with trilaciclib and GC demonstrated improvement in OS compared to patients receiving GC alone, with the PD-L1-positive subset
achieving statistically significant improvement. Further, data from T cell clonality analyses suggest that administering trilaciclib prior to chemotherapy
enhanced immune system function. These compelling Phase 2 data supported the potential effectiveness of trilaciclib in mTNBC.

On April 28, 2021, G1 announced the initiation of PRESERVE 2, a pivotal Phase 3, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of COSELA™
(trilaciclib) in patients receiving first- or second-line gemcitabine and carboplatin chemotherapy for locally advanced unresectable or metastatic triple-
negative breast cancer. PRESERVE 2 will evaluate the survival benefit of COSELA in 250 patients with locally advanced unresectable or metastatic
TNBC. PRESERVE 2 will enroll two cohorts of patients. Cohort 1 (n=170) will evaluate patients receiving first-line therapy, regardless of PD-L1 status,
who are PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitor-naïve. Cohort 2 (n=80) will evaluate PD-L1 positive patients receiving second-line therapy following prior PD-1/PD-L1
inhibitor therapy in the locally advanced unresectable/metastatic setting.

2L/3L Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (“NSCLC”)
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On May 10, 2021 we announced the initiation of PRESERVE 4, a multicenter randomized, double blind, placebo controlled Phase 2 study of trilaciclib in
post-checkpoint patients with metastatic NSCLC treated with docetaxel in the 2nd and 3rd line setting. Myeloprotection and anti-tumor efficacy endpoints
are being assessed in this study. We believe that evaluating trilaciclib in 2L/3L NSCLC (post-checkpoint setting) will provide us with meaningful data in an
area of high unmet need with a large patient population. NSCLC is a known immunogenic tumor which may provide trilaciclib an opportunity to increase
anti-tumor efficacy through its distinct mechanism even after checkpoint inhibitors have failed. There is also a highly complementary commercial fit with
our initial SCLC indication.

1L Bladder Cancer

On June 14, 2021 we announced the initiation of PRESERVE 3, a randomized, open-label Phase 2 study of trilaciclib administered with first-line platinum-
based chemotherapy and the immune checkpoint inhibitor avelumab maintenance therapy in patients with untreated, locally advanced or metastatic
urothelial carcinoma (mUC). Myeloprotection and anti-tumor efficacy endpoints are being assessed in this study. There is a strong rationale to evaluate
trilaciclib in 1L bladder cancer: (1) bladder is a known immunogenic tumor proven to be responsive to chemotherapy; (2) the most common chemotherapy
regimen used in 1L bladder is gemcitabine and platinum, which is similar to the chemotherapy regimen in our mTNBC study (gemcitabine and carboplatin)
where we showed significant OS benefits; and (3) we have observed synergistic benefits combining trilaciclib with checkpoints. G1 announced in February
2021 that it had entered into a clinical trial collaboration with the alliance between Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany and Pfizer whereby the alliance will
contribute clinical supply of avelumab to this G1-sponsored and funded trial in mUC.

Phase 2 Neoadjuvant Breast Cancer (I-SPY 2)

Trilaciclib is included in a randomized, investigational treatment arm for the ongoing I-SPY 2 TRIAL™ for neoadjuvant treatment of locally advanced
breast cancer. The trial, initiated in the second quarter of 2020 and run by the non-profit Quantum Leap Healthcare Collaborative, is designed to rapidly
screen promising experimental treatments and identify those most effective in specific patient subgroups based on molecular characteristics (biomarker
signatures). This trial will generate myeloprotection and anti-tumor efficacy data across the different subtypes of breast cancer.

Rintodestrant

Rintodestrant is a clinical-stage oral SERD, for use as a monotherapy and in combination with CDK4/6 inhibitors, initially Ibrance® (palbociclib), for the
treatment of ER+, HER2- breast cancer. Based on compelling preclinical efficacy and safety data, we filed an Investigational New Drug application
(“IND”) with the FDA in the fourth quarter of 2017. In 2018, we initiated a Phase 1/2a (dose escalation/dose expansion) clinical trial in ER+, HER2- breast
cancer. Preliminary data from the Phase 1 portion of this trial were presented at the 2019 ESMO Congress, showing that rintodestrant was well tolerated
and demonstrated evidence of anti-tumor activity in heavily pre-treated patients. The mature monotherapy data were presented at the 2020 SABCS
conference, confirming the safety and efficacy results of the preliminary analysis. Based on these findings the Company advanced an 800 mg dose of
rintodestrant into a 40-patient Phase 1b combination arm with palbociclib, a CDK4/6 inhibitor, which was provided under a non-exclusive clinical supply
agreement that we signed with Pfizer in February 2020. Data from this arm were presented at the 2021 American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO)
annual virtual meeting. Key study findings with a median duration of treatment of 6.2 months in the ongoing Phase 1 combination trial presented in the
poster included that rintodestrant combined with palbociclib was very well tolerated, with no rintodestrant-related serious adverse events (SAEs) or dose-
reductions reported. The clinical benefit rate (CBR) doubled from 30% to 60% when palbociclib was added to rintodestrant, suggesting the potential for
favorable antitumor activity in patients with ER+/HER2- advanced breast cancer, including in patients with tumors harboring ESR1 variants. The CBR
among patients with early relapse (first metastatic recurrence while on adjuvant endocrine therapy [ET] for at least 2 years’ duration, or within 12 months
of completing adjuvant ET) was 73%. The Company is in the process of evaluating partnering options for rintodestrant.
 
Lerociclib

Lerociclib is a differentiated oral CDK4/6 inhibitor being developed for use in combination with other targeted therapies in multiple oncology indications.
In 2020, we entered into separate, exclusive agreements with EQRx, Inc. (rights for U.S., Europe, Japan and all markets outside Asia-Pacific) and Genor
Biopharma Co. Inc. (rights for Asia-Pacific, excluding Japan) for the development and commercialization of lerociclib in all indications. Combined, these
agreements provided $26.0 million in upfront payments, along with sales-based royalties and up to $330.0 million in potential milestone payments. EQRx,
Inc. and Genor Biopharma Co. Inc. are responsible for all costs related to the development and commercialization of lerociclib in their respective
territories.

 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) impact on operations
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We have implemented business continuity plans to address the COVID-19 pandemic and minimize disruptions to ongoing operations. Enrollment of
patients in current and future clinical trials may be impacted by COVID-19. We do not anticipate significant supply chain delays or shortages as a result of
the COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 travel limitations and government-mandated work-from-home or shelter-in-place orders, may reduce the number of
in-person meetings with prescribers and fewer patient visits with physicians, potentially resulting in fewer new prescriptions.

We established a COVID-19 response team which continually monitors the impact of COVID-19 on our operations.  The COVID-19 response team
manages our workplace protocols that governs our employees’ use of our office. To mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on our business, we put in place the
following safety measures for our employees, patients, healthcare professionals, and suppliers to limit exposure: we substantially restricted travel, supplied
personal protective equipment to employees, limited access to our headquarters and asked most of our staff to work remotely. In addition, we added
bandwidth and VPN capacity to our infrastructure to facilitate remote work arrangements. We will continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on our
operations and report to our Board of Directors regularly on the progress of our response to the COVID-19 outbreak.

Financial Overview

Since our inception in 2008, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to synthesizing, acquiring, testing and developing our product candidates,
including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials and providing general and administrative support for these operations as well as securing
intellectual property protection for our product candidates. Currently, COSELATM is our only product approved for sale. We began generating revenue for
the net product sales from COSELA in March of 2021. We recorded $3.1 million of net product sales from COSELA and $17.7 million of license revenue
for the six months ended June 30, 2021, and $45.3 million of license revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020.  To date, we have financed our
operations primarily through the sale of equity securities, our loan agreement with Hercules Capital, Inc., and licensing arrangements. Under our licensing
arrangements, we are eligible to receive certain development and sales-based milestones. Our ability to earn these milestones and the timing of achieving
these milestones is primarily dependent upon the outcome of the licensee’s activities and is uncertain at this time.
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As of June 30, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $244.0 million. Since inception we have incurred net losses. As of June 30, 2021 we had an
accumulated deficit of $502.0 million. Substantially all of our net losses have resulted from costs incurred in connection with our research and development
programs, our commercial launch preparations, and from general and administrative expenses associated with our operations. We expect to continue to
incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses. We expect our research and development, commercial activities, and general and administrative
expenses will continue to increase in connection with our ongoing and future activities as we:

• continue development of our product candidates, including initiating additional clinical trials;

• identify and develop new product candidates;

• seek marketing approvals for our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

• grow our sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize COSELA and any future products for which we may obtain marketing
approval;

• achieve market acceptance of our product candidates in the medical community and with third-party payors;

• maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

• hire additional personnel;

• enter into collaboration arrangements, if any, for the development of our product candidates or in-license other products and technologies;

• add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our product development and planned
future commercialization efforts; and

• continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company.

License agreement with the University of Illinois

In November 2016, and as amended in March 2017, we entered into a license agreement with the Board of Trustees of the University of Illinois, (“the
University”). Pursuant to the license agreement, as amended, the University licensed patent rights to us, with rights to sublicense, to make, have made, use,
import, sell and offer for sale SERDs, including rintodestrant, covered by certain patent rights owned by the University. The rights licensed to us are
exclusive, worldwide, non-transferable rights, for all fields of use. Under the terms of the agreement, as amended, we paid a one-time only, non-refundable
upfront fee of $0.5 million, and are required to pay the University low single-digit royalties on all net sales of products and a share of any sublicensing
revenues. We are also obligated to pay annual maintenance fees, which are fully creditable against any royalty payments made by us. In addition, we may
also be required to pay the University milestone payments of up to an aggregate of $2.6 million related to the initiation and execution of clinical trials and
the first commercial sale of a product and the first commercial sale of a product in another country. To date, we have made milestone payments totaling
$0.6 million, of which $0 was incurred during the current quarter. We will also be responsible for any future patent prosecution costs that may arise.

Components of our Results of Operations

Revenue

On February 12, 2021, COSELATM was approved by the FDA and we began generating revenue for the product sales of COSELA in March 2021. Prior to
the approval of COSELA, our revenues have been derived from our license agreements.

We entered into an exclusive license agreement with Nanjing Simcere Dongyuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (“Simcere”) in August 2020 and granted them
the rights to develop and commercialize trilaciclib in Greater China (mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan) (the “Simcere Territory”). We
received an upfront payment of $14.0 million (less applicable withholding taxes of $1.4 million) in September 2020. Revenue was recognized once the
transfer of the related technology and know-how was completed in the fourth quarter of 2020. We have the potential to receive $156.0 million upon
reaching development and commercial milestones, and receive tiered low double-digit royalties on annual net sales of trilaciclib in the Simcere Territory.
During the six months ended June 30, 2021, three development milestones totaling $8.0 million (less applicable withholding taxes of $0.8 million) were
received and recognized as revenue.
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We entered into an exclusive license agreement with EQRx, Inc. (“EQRx”) in July 2020 and granted them the rights to develop and commercialize
lerociclib in the U.S, Europe, Japan and all other global markets, excluding the Asia-Pacific region (except Japan) (the “EQRx Territory”). We received an
upfront payment of $20.0 million in August 2020. This was recognized as revenue in September 2020 when we transferred the license and related
technology and know-how. We have the potential to receive $290.0 million upon reaching development and commercial milestones, and receive tiered
royalties ranging from mid-single digits to mid-teens based on annual net sales of lerociclib in the EQRx Territory.

We entered into an exclusive license agreement with Genor Biopharma Co. Inc. (“Genor”) in June 2020 and granted them the rights to develop and
commercialize lerociclib in the Asia-Pacific Region, excluding Japan (the “Genor Territory”). We received an upfront payment of $6.0 million in July
2020. This was recognized as revenue in September 2020 when we transferred the license and related technology and know-how. We have the potential to
receive $40.0 million upon reaching development and commercial milestones, and receive tiered royalties ranging from high single to low double-digits
based on annual net sales of lerociclib in the Genor Territory. During the six months ended June 30, 2021, one development milestone totaling $3.0 million
was met and recognized as revenue, and payment was received in April 2021.

We entered into an exclusive license agreement with ARC Therapeutics, LLC (“ARC”) in May 2020.  The Company granted ARC an exclusive,
worldwide, royalty-bearing license of its CDK2 inhibitor compounds in exchange for an upfront payment and equity in ARC with a total value of
approximately $2.1 million, which resulted in the recognition of related party revenue. The Company is entitled to receive additional milestone payments
and sales-based royalties, and has right of first negotiation to re-acquire these assets.

Operating expenses

We classify our operating expenses into three categories: cost of goods sold, research and development and selling, general and administrative. Personnel
costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation expense, comprise a significant component of research and development and
general and administrative expense categories. We allocate expenses associated with personnel costs based on the nature of work associated with these
resources. In addition, costs to sell and market COSELA are included within selling, general and administrative expense categories.

Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold includes direct and indirect costs related to the manufacturing and distribution of COSELA, including third-party manufacturing costs,
packaging services, freight-in, third-party logistics costs associated with COSELA, and personnel costs. Cost of goods sold may also include period costs
related to certain inventory manufacturing services and inventory adjustment charges.

Research and development expenses

The largest component of our total operating expenses since inception has been research and development activities, including the preclinical and clinical
development of our product candidates.

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Our research and development expense primarily consists of:

• salaries and personnel-related costs, including bonuses, benefits and any stock-based compensation, for our scientific personnel performing or managing
out-sourced research and development activities;

• costs incurred under agreements with contract research organizations and investigative sites that conduct preclinical studies and clinical trials;

• costs related to manufacturing pharmaceutical active ingredients and drug products for preclinical studies and clinical trials;

• costs related to upfront and milestone payments under in-licensing agreements;

• fees paid to consultants and other third parties who support our product candidate development;

• other costs incurred in seeking regulatory approval of our product candidates; and

• allocated facility-related costs and overhead.

The successful development of our product candidates is highly uncertain. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher
development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials.
Accordingly, we expect research and development costs to increase significantly for the foreseeable future as programs progress. However, we do not
believe that it is possible at this time to accurately project total program-specific expenses through commercialization. We are also unable to predict when,
if ever, material net cash inflows will commence from our product candidates to offset these expenses. Our expenditures on current and future preclinical
and clinical development
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programs are subject to numerous uncertainties in timing and cost to completion. The duration, costs and timing of clinical trials and development of our
product candidates will depend on a variety of factors, including:

• the scope, rate of progress, and expenses of our ongoing as well as any additional clinical trials and other research and development activities;

• future clinical trial results;

• achievement of milestones requiring payments under our in-licensing agreements;

• uncertainties in clinical trial enrollment rates or drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;

• potential additional studies requested by regulatory agencies;

• significant and changing government regulation; and

• the timing and receipt of any regulatory approvals.

We track research and development expenses on a program-by-program basis only for clinical-stage product candidates. Preclinical research and
development expenses and chemical manufacturing research and development expenses are not assigned or allocated to individual development programs.
As of the second quarter of 2021, we had two clinical-stage product candidates, trilaciclib and rintodestrant.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs, allocated expenses and other expenses for outside professional services, including
legal, audit and accounting services. Personnel costs consist of salaries, bonuses, benefits and stock-based compensation. Other general and administrative
expenses include facility-related costs not otherwise allocated to research and development expense, professional fees, commercialization costs, expenses
associated with obtaining and maintaining patents and costs of our information systems. We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will
continue to increase in the future as we increase our headcount to support our continued research and development and commercialization of COSELATM.

We expect to continue to incur additional selling, general and administrative expenses in the future in connection with the commercialization of COSELA,
as we support continued research and development activities, and as we support our operations in a public company environment, including expenses
related to compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq, additional insurance expenses, and expenses related to investor relations
activities.

Total other income (expense), net

Total other income (expense), net consists of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents and interest expenses incurred under our loan and
security agreement with Hercules.

Income taxes

To date, we have not been required to pay U.S. federal or state income taxes because we have not generated taxable income. Income tax expense
recognized in 2021 relate to the foreign withholding taxes incurred as a result of the milestone payments received from the Simcere license agreement
during the year.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the three months ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020
 

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   $  
  (in thousands)  

Revenues:             
Product sales, net  $ 2,532  $ —  $ 2,532 
License revenue   4,072   2,140   1,932 

Total revenues   6,604   2,140   4,464 
Operating expenses:             

Cost of goods sold   808   —   808 
Research and development   18,752   18,531   221 
Selling, general and administrative   25,236   14,431   10,805 

Total operating expenses   44,796   32,962   11,834 
Loss from operations   (38,192)   (30,822)   (7,370)
Other income (expense):             

Interest income   9   91   (82)
Interest expense   (927)   (265)   (662)
Other income (expense)   (92)   (214)   122 

Total other income (expense), net   (1,010)   (388)   (622)
Loss before income taxes   (39,202)   (31,210)   (7,992)
Income tax expense   220   —   220 
Net loss  $ (39,422)  $ (31,210)  $ (8,212)

Product sales, net

Product sales, net was $2.5 million and $0 for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The revenue for the three months ended
June 30, 2021 related to the product sales of COSELA. We received FDA approval of COSELA on February 12, 2021 and product was commercially
available beginning March 2, 2021.

License Revenue

License revenue was $4.1 million and $2.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase of $2 million, or 90%,
was primarily due to revenue recognized from a development milestone related to Simcere, delivery of clinical drug supply and manufacturing services to
Simcere, EQRx and Genor, and amounts to be reimbursed by EQRx for the costs associated with the two primary lerociclib clinical trials.

Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold was $0.8 million and $0 for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively, which includes our third-party
logistics costs for the sales of COSELA, inventory overhead costs, and personnel costs.
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Research and development

Research and development expenses were $18.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 compared to $18.5 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2020. The increase of $0.3 million, or 2%, was primarily due to an increase in clinical spend of $7.9 million, driven by the Company’s new
clinical trials, which is offset by a decrease of $7.5 million in expense recognized for the manufacturing of active pharmaceutical ingredients and drug
product to support clinical trials, and a decrease of $0.2 million in preclinical and discovery costs.  The following table summarizes our research and
development expenses allocated to trilaciclib, rintodestrant, lerociclib and unallocated research and development expenses for the periods indicated:

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  
  (in thousands)  

Clinical Program Expenses—trilaciclib  $ 14,973  $ 5,617 
Clinical Program Expenses—rintodestrant   531   1,374 
Clinical Program Expenses—lerociclib   968   1,544 
Chemical Manufacturing and Development   1,505   9,034 
Discovery, Pre-Clinical and Other Expenses   775   962 
Total Research and Development Expenses  $ 18,752  $ 18,531

 

 

Selling, general and administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $25.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 compared to $14.4 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2020. The increase of $10.8 million, or 75%, was due to an increase of $5.9 million in commercialization activities, an increase of $3.9
million in personnel costs due to increased headcount, of which $1.8 million related to non-cash stock compensation expense, an increase of $1.2 million in
information technology spend, and an increase of $0.3 million in medical affairs costs related to trilaciclib, which was partially offset by a decrease of $0.5
million in professional services and other administrative costs.

Total other income (expense), net

Total other income (expense), net was $(1.0) million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 as compared to $(0.4) million for the three months ended
June 30, 2020. The decrease of $0.6 million, or -160%, was primarily due to the lower balance of money market funds due to cash used in operating
activities and changes in interest rates during the three months ended June 30, 2021 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2020 and interest
expense on our loan payable.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense was $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 as compared to $0 for the three months ended June 30, 2020. The increase
was related to the foreign withholding taxes incurred as a result of the development milestone payments received from the Simcere license agreement
during the quarter.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020
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  Six Months Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   $  
  (in thousands)  

Revenues:             
Product sales, net  $ 3,141  $ —  $ 3,141 
License revenue   17,681   2,140   15,541 

Total revenues   20,822   2,140   18,682 
Operating expenses:             

Cost of goods sold   1,051   —   1,051 
Research and development   35,292   38,965   (3,673)
Selling, general and administrative   48,206   25,818   22,388 

Total operating expenses   84,549   64,783   19,766 
Loss from operations   (63,727)   (62,643)   (1,084)
Other income (expense):             

Interest income   28   872   (844)
Interest expense   (1,675)   (265)   (1,410)
Other income (expense)   (132)   (197)   65 

Total other income (expense), net   (1,779)   410   (2,189)
Loss before income taxes   (65,506)   (62,233)   (3,273)
Income tax expense   358   —   358 
Net loss  $ (65,864)  $ (62,233)  $ (3,631)

Product sales, net

Product sales, net was $3.1 million and $0 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively. The revenue for the six months ended
June 30, 2021, related to the product sales of COSELA. We received FDA approval of COSELA on February 12, 2021 and product was commercially
available beginning March 2, 2021.

License Revenue

License revenue was $17.7 million and $2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively. The increase in revenue is due
to revenue recognized from development milestones related to the Simcere and Genor license agreements, delivery of clinical drug supply and
manufacturing services to Simcere, EQRx and Genor, and amounts to be reimbursed by EQRx for the costs associated with the two primary lerociclib
clinical trials.

Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold was $1.1 million and $0 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively, which include our third-party logistics
costs for the sales of COSELA, inventory overhead costs, and personnel costs.
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Research and development

Research and development expenses were $35.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to $39.0 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2020. The decrease of $3.7 million, or -9%, was primarily due to a decrease of $10.9 million in costs for manufacturing of active pharmaceutical
ingredients and drug product to support clinical trials, as well as a decrease of $0.9 million in external costs related to discovery, pre-clinical and other
development costs. The decrease was offset by an increase of $8.1 million in spend for clinical trials driven by the Company’s new clinical trials. The
following table summarizes our research and development expenses allocated to trilaciclib, rintodestrant, lerociclib and unallocated research and
development expenses for the periods indicated:
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2021   2020  
  (in thousands)  

Clinical Program Expenses—trilaciclib  $ 26,721  $ 15,116 
Clinical Program Expenses—rintodestrant   1,896   3,745 
Clinical Program Expenses—lerociclib   1,995   3,595 
Chemical Manufacturing and Development   3,250   14,184 
Discovery and Pre-clinical Expenses   1,430   2,325 
Total Research and Development Expenses  $ 35,292  $ 38,965

 

Selling, general and administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $48.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to $25.8 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2020. The increase of $22.4 million, or 87%, was due to an increase of $12.5 million in commercialization activities, an increase of $8.0
million in personnel costs due to increased headcount, of which $3.3 million related to non-cash stock compensation expense, an increase of $1.7 million in
information technology spend, and an increase of $0.2 million in expenses related to professional services and other administrative costs.

Total other income (expense), net

Total other income (expense), net was $(1.8) million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 as compared to $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30,
2020.  The decrease of $2.2 million, or -534%, was primarily due to the lower balance of money market funds due to cash used in operating activities and
changes in interest rates during the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020, and interest expense on our loan
payable.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense was $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 as compared to $0 for the six months ended June 30, 2020. The increase was
related to the foreign withholding taxes incurred as a result of the development milestone payments received from the Simcere license agreement during the
year.

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have incurred cumulative losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception in 2008. As of June 30, 2021, we had an accumulated
deficit of $502.0 million. We anticipate that we will continue to incur losses.

As of June 30, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $244.0 million. To date, we have funded our operations primarily through proceeds from our
initial public offering, our follow-on stock offerings, our debt agreement with Hercules Capital, and proceeds from our license agreements. Under our
licensing arrangements, we are eligible to receive certain development and sales-based milestones. Our ability to earn these milestones and the timing of
achieving these milestones is primarily dependent upon the outcome of the licensee’s activities and are uncertain at this time.
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Shelf registration statement

On July 2, 2021, we filed an automatically effective shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Each issuance under the
shelf registration statement will require the filing of a prospectus supplement identifying the amount and terms of securities to be issued.  The registration
statement does not limit the amount of securities that may be issued thereunder.  Our ability to issue securities is subject to market conditions and other
factors. This registration statement will expire on July 2, 2024, three years after its date of effectiveness.

At-the-market offering

On June 15, 2018, we entered into a sales agreement for “at the market offerings” with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”), which allowed us to issue
and sell shares of common stock pursuant to a shelf registration statement for total gross sales proceeds of up to $125.0 million from time to time through
Cowen, acting as our agent. Between June 18, 2018 and August 2, 2018, we sold 752,008 shares of common stock pursuant to this agreement resulting in
$36.1 million in net proceeds, realizing $12.1 million in the second quarter of 2018 and the remaining $24.0 million by August 2, 2018.

Between January 14, 2021 and February 9, 2021, we sold 3,513,027 shares of common stock pursuant to this agreement resulting in $86.4 million in net
proceeds. As of February 9, 2021, we used the entirety of the remaining availability under the 2018 sales agreement with Cowen.

On July 2, 2021, we entered into a new sales agreement for “at the market offerings” with Cowen, which allows us to issue and sell shares of common
stock pursuant to a shelf registration statement for total gross sales proceeds of up to $150.0 million from time to time through Cowen, acting as our agent.
We have not sold any shares of common stock to date under the 2021 sales agreement.

Loan and Security Agreement with Hercules

On May 29, 2020, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Hercules Capital, Inc. (“Hercules”) under which Hercules has agreed to lend us up to
$100.0 million, to be made available in a series of tranches, subject to specified conditions. We borrowed $20.0 million at loan closing. The term of the
loan is approximately 48 months, with an original maturity date of June 1, 2024. No principal payments are due during an interest-only period,
commencing on the initial borrowing date and continuing through June 1, 2022. Per the terms of the loan agreement, upon reaching the performance
milestone, the interest only period was to be extended through January 1, 2023 and we will now repay the principal balance and interest of the advances in
equal monthly installments through the maturity date of June 1, 2025. On March 31, 2021, we entered into the First Amendment to Loan and Security
Agreement with Hercules where we drew the remaining $10.0 million of the first tranche along with amending the interest rate and the financial covenants.

Genor License Agreement

On June 15, 2020, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Genor Biopharma Co. Inc. (“Genor”) for the development and commercialization of
lerociclib in the Asia-Pacific region, excluding Japan (the “Genor Territory”). Under the license agreement, we granted to Genor an exclusive, royalty-
bearing, non-transferable license, with the right to grant sublicenses, to develop, obtain, hold and maintain regulatory approvals for, and commercialize
lerociclib, in the Genor Territory.

Under the license agreement, Genor agreed to pay us a non-refundable, upfront cash payment of $6.0 million with the potential to pay an additional $40.0
million upon reaching certain development and commercial milestones. In addition, Genor will pay us tiered royalties ranging from high single to low
double-digits based on annual net sales of lerociclib in the Genor Territory. The upfront cash payment was received in July 2020. In September 2020, we
transferred to Genor the related technology and know-how that is necessary to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and commercialize lerociclib in the
Genor Territory. Genor will be responsible for the development of the product in the Genor Territory and will be responsible, at its sole cost, for obtaining
supply of lerociclib to meet its development, regulatory approval, and commercialization obligations under the agreement. In the first half of 2021, we
recognized revenue related to a development milestone of $3.0 million, for which cash was received in April 2021.

EQRx License Agreement

On July 22, 2020, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with EQRx, Inc. (“EQRx”) for the development and commercialization of lerociclib in
the U.S., Europe, Japan and all other global markets, excluding the Asia-Pacific region (except Japan) (the “EQRx Territory”). Under the license
agreement, we granted to EQRx an exclusive, royalty-bearing, non-transferable license, with the right to grant sublicenses, to develop, obtain, hold and
maintain regulatory approvals for, and commercialize lerociclib in the EQRx Territory.
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Under the license agreement, EQRx agreed to pay us a non-refundable, upfront cash payment of $20.0 million with the potential to pay an additional
$290.0 million upon reaching certain development and commercial milestones. In addition, EQRx will pay us tiered royalties ranging from mid-single
digits to mid-teens based on annual net sales of lerociclib in the EQRx Territory. The upfront cash payment was received in August 2020. In September
2020, we transferred to EQRx the related technology and know-how that is necessary to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and commercialize
lerociclib in the EQRx Territory. EQRx will be responsible for the development of the product in the EQRx Territory. We will continue until completion, as
the clinical trial sponsor, its two primary clinical trials at EQRx’s sole cost and expense. EQRx will reimburse us for all of its out-of-pocket costs incurred
after the effective date of the license agreement in connection with these clinical trials. We will invoice EQRx within 30 days following the end of the
quarter, and EQRx will pay within 30 days after its receipt of such invoice.

Simcere License Agreement

On August 3, 2020, we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Nanjing Simcere Dongyuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (“Simcere”) for the
development and commercialization of trilaciclib in all indications in Greater China (mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan) (the “Simcere
Territory”). Under the license agreement, we granted to Simcere an exclusive, royalty-bearing, non-transferable license, with the right to grant sublicenses,
to develop, obtain, hold and maintain regulatory approvals for, and commercialize trilaciclib in the Simcere Territory.

Under the license agreement, Simcere agreed to pay us a non-refundable, upfront cash payment of $14.0 million with the potential to pay an additional
$156.0 million upon reaching certain development and commercial milestones. In addition, Simcere will pay us tiered low double-digit royalties on annual
net sales of trilaciclib in the Simcere Territory. The upfront payment of $14.0 million (less applicable withholding taxes of $1.4 million) was received in
September 2020. In return, we will furnish to Simcere the related technology and know-how that is necessary to develop, seek regulatory approval for, and
commercialize trilaciclib in the Simcere Territory. Simcere will be responsible for all development and commercialization costs in its territory and may be
able to participate in global clinical trials as agreed upon by the companies. In the first half of 2021, we received three development milestone payments
totaling $8.0 million (less applicable withholding taxes of $0.8 million).

Cash flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,   Change  
  2021   2020   $  
  (in thousands)  

Net cash used in operating activities  $ (63,368)  $ (55,873)  $ (7,495)
Net cash provided/used in investing activities   —   —   — 
Net cash provided by financing activities   100,023   20,932   79,091 
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  $ 36,655  $ (34,941)  $ 71,596

 

Net cash used in operating activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $63.4 million which consisted primarily of a net loss of $65.9 million
and a decrease in net operating assets and liabilities of $10.2 million, partially offset by non-cash stock compensation expense of $11.6 million, $0.2
million of depreciation expense, $0.5 million in amortization of debt issuance costs, and $0.4 million of non-cash interest expense.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, net cash used in operating activities was $55.9 million, which consisted primarily of a net loss of $62.2
million, a decrease in net operating assets and liabilities of $2.5 million, and a decrease of $0.9 million in net equity interest, partially offset by $9.1 million
of non-cash stock compensation expense, $0.3 million of depreciation expense, and $0.3 of non-cash interest expense.

Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $7.5 million as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020 primarily due to an increase in net loss
of $3.7 million and an increase of accounts receivable of $4.7 million, offset by an increase in non-cash stock comp expense of $2.5 million.

Net cash used in investing activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the six months ended June 30, 2020, there was no cash provided or used in investing activities.
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Net cash provided by financing activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $100.0 million, which consisted of $86.4 million in net proceeds
from our ATM offering after deducting cash paid during the year for underwriting discounts and commissions and other expenses, $9.9 million in net
proceeds from debt funding, and $3.7 million from proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, net cash provided by financing activities was $20.9 million, which consisted of $19.5 million in net proceeds
from debt funding and $1.4 million from the exercise of stock options.

 
Operating capital requirements and plan of operations

We anticipate that we will continue to generate losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect the losses to increase as we continue the development of
and seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates, and continue to commercialize COSELATM. We are subject to all of the risks inherent in the
development of new products, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may
adversely affect our business. We expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company and we anticipate that we will need
substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our projected cash needs for at least the next 12 months.

We have based our projections of operating capital requirements on assumptions that may prove to be incorrect and we may use all of our available capital
resources sooner than we expect. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development and commercialization of
pharmaceutical products, we are unable to estimate the exact amount of our operating capital requirements. Our future funding requirements will depend on
many factors, including, but not limited to:

 • the scope, progress, results and costs of nonclinical development, laboratory testing and clinical trials for our product candidates;

 • the scope, prioritization and number of our research and development programs;

 • the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

 • the extent to which we enter into non-exclusive, jointly funded clinical research collaboration arrangements, if any, for the development of
our product candidates in combination with other companies’ products;

 • our ability to establish such collaborative co-development arrangements on favorable terms, if at all;

 • the achievement of milestones or occurrence of other developments that trigger payments under our license agreements and any collaboration
agreements into which we enter;

 • the extent to which we are obligated to reimburse, or entitled to reimbursement of, clinical trial costs under future collaboration agreements, if
any;

 • the extent to which we acquire or in-license product candidates and technologies, such as rintodestrant, and the terms of such in-licenses;

 • the costs of future commercialization activities, including product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any of our product
candidates for which we receive marketing approval;

 • revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates; and

 • the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending
intellectual property-related claims.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt
financings, other third-party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements and other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. We do
not have any committed external source of funds except for amounts included under our licensing arrangements and the loan agreement with Hercules. To the
extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders’ ownership interest will be diluted, and the
terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing, if available,
may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital
expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise funds through additional collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may
have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may
not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay,
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limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would
otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies
 
There have been no material changes to our contractual obligations during the current period from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2020 (the “2020 Form 10-K).

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have, during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined under applicable SEC rules.

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our financial
statements requires us to make estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities as of the dates of the balance sheet, and the reported amount of expenses incurred during the reporting period. In accordance with U.S.
GAAP, we evaluate our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that our accounting policies are critical to the process of making significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our financial
statements and understanding and evaluating our reported financial results. We discussed our accounting policies and significant assumptions used in our
estimates in Note 2 of our audited financial statements included in our 2020 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes during the six months ended
June 30, 2021 to our critical accounting policies, significant judgments and estimates disclosed in our 2020 Form 10-K.

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Note 2 to our unaudited condensed financial statements included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q does not include any recently issued
accounting pronouncements that are applicable to our Company or impact our financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include interest rate sensitivities, which are affected by
changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. We had cash and cash equivalents of $244.0 million as of June 30, 2021, which consists of deposits in
banks, including checking accounts, money market accounts and certificates of deposit. Such interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate
risk; however, historical fluctuations in interest income have not been significant. Due to the short-term nature of our cash equivalents, a sudden change in
interest rates would not be expected to have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.  

We also have exposure to market risk on our loan agreement with Hercules Capital, Inc. Our loan agreement accrues interest from its date of issue at a
variable interest rate equal to the greater of either (i) (a) the prime rate as reported in The Wall Street Journal, plus (b) 6.20%, and (ii) 9.45%. As of June 30,
2021, $30.1 million was outstanding under the loan agreement with Hercules.

We are not currently exposed to significant market risk related to changes in foreign currency exchange rates; however, our operations may be subject to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in the future.

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor. We do not believe that inflation had a material effect on our business financial condition or
results of operations during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of June 30, 2021. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls
and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing
similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and our management necessarily applies its
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures
as of June 30, 2021, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

 

Change in Internal Controls

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, in connection with the approval and commercial availability of COSELA, we designed and
implemented new procedures and controls around our net product sales and inventory processes.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information contained elsewhere in this report, you should carefully
consider the risks and uncertainties described in our “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our 2020 Form 10-K and the periodic report on Form 10-Q for the period
ended March 31, 2021, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results before investing in our common stock. Additional
risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that affect us. If any of
these risks occur, our business, operating results and prospects could be materially harmed. In that event, the price of our common stock could decline, and
you could lose part or all of your investment. There have been no material changes in the risk factors set forth in Part II, Item 1A of our 2020 annual report
on Form 10-K and the periodic report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2021.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 

Exhibit
Number  Description

3.1  Certificate of Correction to G1 Therapeutics, Inc.’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed on May 22, 2017, dated
June 30, 2021, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2, 2021 (File No. 001-38096), and
incorporated herein by reference.

10.1  Sales Agreement by and between the Registrant and Cowen and Company, LLC, dated as of July 2, 2021, filed as Exhibit 1.2 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR filed on July 2, 2021 (File No. 333-257640), and incorporated herein by
reference.
 

10.2*+  Employment Agreement by and between Registrant and Andrew Perry dated July 28, 2021.
10.3*+  Scientific, Clinical, and Regulatory Advisor Agreement by and between the Registrant and Seth A. Rudnick, MD, effective July 1,

2021.
10.4+  Second Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on June 21, 2021 (File No. 001-38096), and incorporated herein by reference.
31.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

Linkbase Document
   
 

* Filed herewith.
+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

                 G1 THERAPEUTICS, INC.
                                              
    
    
Date: August 4, 2021  By: /s/ Jennifer K. Moses
   Jennifer K. Moses

   

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.2
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is made and entered into effective as of July 28, 2021 (the
“Effective Date”), by and between G1 Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Andrew Perry (“Employee”).

1. EMPLOYMENT; DUTIES. The Company agrees to employ Employee as its Chief Commercial Officer, and
Employee agrees to accept such employment upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. Employee will perform such
services for the Company as are customarily associated with such position and as may otherwise be assigned to the Employee from
time to time by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or his designee. Employee will devote Employee’s full business time and
attention to the business and affairs of the Company, and will perform Employee’s duties diligently and to the best of Employee’s
ability, in compliance with the Company’s policies and procedures and the laws and regulations that apply to the Company’s
business.

2. TERM; TERMINATION. Employee’s employment under this Agreement will commence on August 16, 2021
(the “Start Date”) and will continue until terminated by either party. Employee’s employment with the Company is at-will, and
either party can terminate the employment relationship and/or this Agreement at any time, for any or no cause or reason, and with
or without prior notice, subject to the applicable terms of Section 4. Upon termination of Employee’s employment by either party
for any reason, Employee will resign Employee’s position(s), if any, as an officer or director of the Company, as a member of the
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and any Board committees, as well as any other positions Employee may hold with
or for the benefit of the Company and/or its affiliates.

3. COMPENSATION. As compensation for the services to be rendered by Employee under this Agreement, the
Company will provide the following compensation and benefits during Employee’s employment hereunder.

(a) BASE SALARY. The Company will pay Employee a base salary (the
“Base Salary”) at an annual rate of Four Hundred and Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000), payable in equal installments
in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll practices as in effect from time to time. The Base Salary may be reviewed
from time to time by the Company and may be increased in the sole discretion of the Company. The Base Salary may also be
decreased in connection with any Company-wide decrease in executive compensation.

(b) ANNUAL BONUS. Employee will be eligible to receive an annual calendar year bonus based
upon Employee’s and the Company’s achievement of certain individual and Company goals that will be set for Employee by the
Board or its designee (the “Annual Bonus”). The amount of the target Annual Bonus will be equal to forty percent (40%) of
Employee’s then-current Base Salary as of the date of the payment; provided that the actual amount of the Annual Bonus may be
greater or less than such target amount. The Board or its designee will have the sole discretion to set the applicable individual and
Company goals, to determine whether the goals have been met, and to determine the amount of the Annual Bonus. The Annual
Bonus for any given year, if any is earned, will be paid in accordance with, and subject to, the Company’s policies and procedures
in effect from time to time. Employee must be
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employed by the Company on December 31 of the bonus year in order to receive the Annual Bonus for that year. The Company
agrees the Employee will be eligible for a full 2021 annual bonus, provided that Employee delivers a long-term commercial
strategy and plan for the Company approved by the Chief Executive Officer prior to December 31, 2021.

(c) STOCK OPTIONS. Effective on Start Date, Employee will be granted stock options to purchase
300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Options”) at a per share exercise price equal to the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant.  The Options will be an inducement material to you joining the Company, pursuant
to Rule 5635(c)(4) of the Nasdaq Listed Company Manual and will be further subject to the terms of a stock option agreement as
approved by the Board setting forth the exercise price, vesting conditions and other restrictions. One fourth (1/4th) of the total
number of such Options will vest on the first anniversary of the date hereof, and one forty-eighth (1/48th) of the total number of
Options will vest each month over the following thirty-six (36) months thereafter, so long as Employee remains employed by the
Company through each such vesting date. Fifty percent (50%) of any unvested Options will vest immediately prior to, and subject
to, the consummation of a Change in Control (as defined below) and, subject to Employee’s execution of the release of claims
described in Section 4(b), any remaining unvested Options will immediately vest if Employee’s employment is terminated by the
Company without Cause (as defined below) or Employee resigns with Good Reason (as defined below) within ninety (90) days
following a Change in Control. A “Change in Control” means (i) the Company’s merger or consolidation with or into another
entity such that the stockholders of the Company prior to such transaction do not or are not expected to own a majority of the voting
stock of the surviving entity, (ii) the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or (iii) the sale
or other disposition of greater than fifty percent (50%) of the then-outstanding voting stock of the Company by the holders thereof
to one or more persons or entities who are not then stockholders of the Company.

 
(d) PAID TIME OFF. Employee will be eligible for paid time off in accordance with, and subject to,

the Company’s policies and procedures in effect from time to time.

(e) BENEFITS. Employee will (subject to applicable eligibility requirements) receive such other
benefits as are provided from time to time to other similarly-situated employees of the Company pursuant to the Company’s
policies and procedures as they may be instituted from time to time. All such benefits are subject to the provisions of their
respective plan documents in accordance with their terms. Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Company has the
unilateral right to amend, modify or terminate its employee benefit plans or policies to the maximum extent allowed by law.

(f) EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT. The Company will reimburse Employee for all reasonable
business expenses incurred by Employee in connection with the performance of Employee’s duties hereunder, subject to
Employee’s compliance with the Company’s reimbursement policies in effect from time to time. All reimbursements provided
under this Agreement will be made or provided in accordance with the requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue
Code and the rules and regulations thereunder including, where applicable, the requirement that (i) any reimbursement is for
expenses incurred during Employee’s lifetime (or
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during a shorter period of time specified in this Agreement); (ii) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement during a
calendar year may not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other calendar year; (iii) the reimbursement of an
eligible expense shall be made no later than the last day of the calendar year following the year in which the expense is incurred;
and (iv) the right to reimbursement or in kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.

(g) WITHHOLDINGS. The Company will withhold from any amounts payable under this
Agreement, such federal, state and local taxes, as the Company reasonably determines are required to be withheld pursuant to
applicable law.

4. EFFECT OF TERMINATION.

(a) GENERALLY. When Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated for any reason,
Employee, or Employee’s estate, as the case may be, will be entitled to receive the compensation and benefits earned through the
effective date of termination, along with reimbursement for any approved business expenses that Employee has timely submitted for
reimbursement in accordance with the Company’s expense reimbursement policy or practice.

(b) SEPARATION BENEFITS UPON CERTAIN TERMINATIONS. If the Company terminates
Employee’s employment without Cause (as defined below), or if Employee resigns Employee’s employment for Good Reason (as
defined below), then conditioned upon Employee executing a Release (as defined below) following such termination, Employee
will be entitled to receive an amount equal to payment of Employee’s then-current Base Salary for a period of twelve (12) months
(the “Separation Benefits”). The Separation Benefits are conditioned upon Employee executing a release of claims in a form
satisfactory to the Company (the “Release”) within the time specified therein, which Release is not revoked within any time period
allowed for revocation under applicable law. The Separation Benefits will be payable to Employee over time in accordance with the
Company’s payroll practices and procedures beginning on the sixtieth (60th) day following the termination of Employee’s
employment with the Company, provided that the Company, in its sole discretion, may begin the payments earlier. For avoidance of
doubt, the termination of Employee’s employment as a result of Employee’s death or disability (meaning the inability of Employee,
due to the condition of Employee’s physical, mental or emotional health, effectively to perform the essential functions of
Employee’s job with or without reasonable accommodation for a continuous period of more than 90 days or for 90 days in any
period of 180 consecutive days, as determined by the Board in its sole discretion in consultation with a physician retained by the
Company) will not constitute a termination without Cause triggering the rights described in this Section 4(b).

(c) CAUSE. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means: (i) Employee’s fraud, embezzlement
or misappropriation with respect to the Company; (ii) Employee’s material breach of fiduciary duties to the Company; (iii)
Employee’s willful or negligent misconduct; (iv) Employee’s material breach of this Agreement; (v) Employee’s willful failure
or refusal to perform Employee’s material duties under this Agreement or failure to follow any specific lawful instructions of
the Company; (vi) Employee’s conviction or plea of nolo contendere in respect of a felony or of a misdemeanor involving
moral turpitude; (vii)
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Employee’s alcohol or substance abuse which has a material adverse effect on Employee’s ability to perform Employee’s
duties under this Agreement; or (viii) Employee’s engagement in a form of discrimination or harassment prohibited by law
(including, without limitation, discrimination or harassment based on race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or
disability). In the event that the Company concludes that Employee has engaged in acts constituting in Cause as defined in
clause (iii), (iv), (v), or (vii) above, prior to terminating this Agreement for Cause the Company will provide Employee with at
least fifteen (15) days’ advance written notice of the specific circumstances constituting such Cause, and an opportunity to
correct such circumstances.

(d) GOOD REASON. In order for Employee to resign for Good Reason, Employee must provide written
notice to the Company of the existence of the Good Reason condition within thirty (30) days of the initial existence of such Good
Reason condition. Upon receipt of such notice, the Company will have thirty (30) days during which it may remedy the Good
Reason condition and not be required to provide for the benefits described in Section 4(b) above as a result of such proposed
resignation if successfully remedied. If the Good Reason condition is not remedied within such thirty (30) day period, Employee
may resign based on the Good Reason condition specified in the notice effective no later than thirty (30) days following the
expiration of the thirty (30) day cure period. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means the occurrence of any of the
following events without Employee’s consent: (i) a material reduction of Employee’s Base Salary not generally applicable to other
executive-level employees of the Company, (ii) a material diminution of the Employee’s authority, duties, or responsibilities, (iii) a
relocation of Employee’s primary workplace to a location that is more than fifty (50) miles from the location of Employee’s primary
workplace as of the date hereof, or (iv) the Company’s material breach of this Agreement.

(e) APPLICATION OF INTERNAL REVENUE CODE SECTION 409A. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary set forth herein, any payments and benefits provided under this Section 4 that constitute “deferred
compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations and other guidance
thereunder and any state law of similar effect (collectively “Section 409A”) will not commence in connection with Employee’s
termination of employment unless and until Employee has also incurred a “separation from service” (as such term is defined in
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h) (a “Separation From Service”), unless the Company reasonably determines that
such amounts may be provided to Employee without causing Employee to incur an additional tax under Section 409A. The
parties intend that each installment of the Separation Benefits payments provided for in this Agreement is a separate
“payment” for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(i). For the avoidance of doubt, the parties intend that
payments of the Separation Benefits set forth in this Agreement satisfy, to the greatest extent possible, the exemptions from the
application of Section 409A provided under Treasury Regulation Sections 1.409A-1(b)(4), 1.409A-1(b)(5) and 1.409A-1(b)(9).
However, if the Company determines that the Separation Benefits constitute “deferred compensation” under Section 409A and
Employee is, on the termination of service, a “specified employee” of the Company or any successor entity thereto, as such
term is defined in Section 409A, then, solely to the extent necessary to avoid the incurrence of the adverse personal tax
consequences under Section 409A, the timing of the Separation Benefits payments will be delayed until the earlier to occur of:
(i) the date that is six months and one day after Employee’s Separation From Service, or (ii) the date of Employee’s
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death (such applicable date, the “Specified Employee Initial Payment Date”), the Company (or the successor entity thereto,
as applicable) will (A) pay to Employee a lump sum amount equal to the sum of the Separation Benefits payments that
Employee would otherwise have received through the Specified Employee Initial Payment Date if the commencement of the
payment of the Separation Benefits had not been so delayed pursuant to this Section and (B) commence paying the balance of
the Separation Benefits in accordance with the applicable payment schedules set forth in this Agreement.

(f) NO FURTHER OBLIGATIONS. Except as expressly provided above or as otherwise
required by law, the Company will have no obligations to Employee in the event of the termination of this Agreement for any
reason.

5. EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIONS. Employee represents and warrants that Employee is not obligated or
restricted under any agreement (including any non-competition or confidentiality agreement), judgment, decree, order or other
restraint of any kind that could impair Employee’s ability to perform the duties and obligations required of Employee hereunder.
Employee further agrees that Employee will not divulge to the Company any confidential information and/or trade secrets belonging
to others, including Employee’s former employers, nor will the Company seek to elicit from Employee such information. Consistent
with the foregoing, Employee will not provide to the Company, and the Company will not request, any documents or copies of
documents containing such information.

6. NOTICES. Any notice required to be given hereunder will be sufficient if in writing and hand delivered or sent
by mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, in the case of Employee, to Employee’s address shown on the Company’s records,
and in the case of the Company, to 700 Park Offices Drive, Suite 200, Research Triangle Park, NC 27709, or to such other addresses
as either party shall specify to the other.

7. AMENDMENT; WAIVER. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement will be valid unless the
amendment is in writing and signed by the Company and Employee. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be valid
unless the waiver is in writing and signed by the waiving party. The failure of a party at any time to require performance of any
provision of this Agreement will not affect such party’s rights at a later time to enforce such provision. No waiver by a party of any
breach of this Agreement will be deemed to extend to any other breach hereunder or affect in any way any rights arising by virtue of
any other breach.

8. GOVERNING LAW; VENUE. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of North Carolina, without regard to that body of law known as choice of law. The parties agree that any litigation arising
out of or related to this Agreement or Employee’s employment by the Company will be brought exclusively in any state or federal
court in Durham County, North Carolina. Each party (i) consents to the personal jurisdiction of said courts, (ii) waives any venue or
inconvenient forum defense to any proceeding maintained in such courts, and (iii) agrees not to bring any proceeding arising out of or
relating to this Agreement or Employee’s employment by the Company in any other court.
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9. BENEFIT. This Agreement will be binding upon and will inure to the benefit of each of the parties hereto, and to
their respective heirs, representatives, successors and permitted assigns. Employee may not assign any of Employee’s rights or
delegate any of Employee’s duties under this Agreement.

10. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; OTHER AGREEMENTS. This Agreement contains the entire agreement and
understanding by and between the Company and Employee with respect to the subject matter hereof, and any representations,
promises, agreements or understandings, written or oral, not herein contained will be of no force or effect; provided, however, that
Employee is also subject to the terms and conditions of (i) that certain Employee Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement
by and between Employee and the Company, and (ii) that certain Employee Confidentiality and Inventions Agreement by and
between Employee and the Company, each of which remains in full force and effect.

11. CAPTIONS; RULE OF CONSTRUCTION. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience only and in no
way define, bind or describe the scope or intent of this Agreement. The terms and provisions of this Agreement will not be construed
against the drafter or drafters hereof. All parties hereto agree that the language of this Agreement will be construed as a whole
according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against any of the parties hereto.

12. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be
deemed an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same agreement. Facsimile or PDF reproductions of original
signatures will be deemed binding for the purpose of the execution of this Agreement.

13. SEVERABILITY. Each provision of this Agreement is severable from every other provision of this Agreement.
Any provision of this Agreement that is determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable will not
affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision. Any provision of this Agreement held invalid or unenforceable only in part
or degree will remain in full force and effect to the extent not held invalid or unenforceable.

14. SURVIVAL. The terms of Sections 4 through 14 will survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement for
any reason.

[Signature Page Follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement effective as of the Effective Date.

 

G1 THERAPEUTICS, INC.

 
By:  /s/ Jack
Bailey
Name: Jack Bailey
Title: Chief Executive Officer
 
EMPLOYEE:
 
/s/ Andrew
Perry
Andrew Perry
 
 
 

 
 

7



Exhibit 10.3
SCIENTIFIC, CLINICAL, AND REGULATORY                              

ADVISOR AGREEMENT
 
 
Seth Rudnick, M.D.
13 Aronimink Lane, #5341
Pinehurst, NC 28374
Dear Dr. Rudnick:

This SCIENTIFIC, CLINICAL, AND REGULATORY ADVISOR AGREEMENT (the ''Agreement"), is effective as
of July 1, 2021 (the "Effective Date"), by and between G1 Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and you.
This Agreement replaces that certain Advisory Board Member Agreement, effective July 1, 2020, by and between the Company
and you, which expired by its terms on June 30, 2021.
 

1. Services. The Company wishes to retain your services as a Scientific, Clinical, and Regulatory
Advisor, pursuant to which you will be expected to provide scientific, clinical and regulatory advice and fulfill the additional
responsibilities described on Exhibit A, attached hereto. This Agreement (including the exhibit attached hereto) shall constitute
an agreement between you and the Company and contain all the terms and conditions relating to the services you are to provide.
 

2. Term. The Company expects that the term of this Agreement shall be for one year starting on the
Effective Date and ending on June 30, 2022 (the "Term"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, either you or the Company may
terminate this Agreement at any time by providing the other at least thirty (30) days prior written notice, or as may be otherwise
provided in this Agreement.
 

3. Consideration. As consideration for your services and other obligations during the Term, the
Company will pay you cash compensation in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) annually, payable in two equal
semi-annual installments (the ''Annual Fee"). The Annual Fee installments shall be paid within thirty (30) days of receipt of an
invoice from you.
 

4. Expenses. You shall be reimbursed for reasonable travel and other out-of-pocket expenses incurred
by you in connection with your services under this Agreement, provided that (i) you provide receipts and other reasonable
documentation as requested by the Company and (ii) any such expenses in excess of $500.00 must be approved in advance, either
verbally or in writing by the Company. You will also be expected to abide by any travel and/or out-of-pocket expense guidelines
that are provided to you by the Company. You are permitted to use your private aircraft at the IRS reimbursement rate with prior
Company authorization, either verbally or in writing.
 

5. Independent Contractor. Your relationship with the Company shall be that of an independent
contractor and you will not be considered an employee of the Company. You will not be eligible for any employee benefits, nor
will the Company make deductions from payments made to you for any taxes or other withholding obligations, which shall be
your responsibility.



You shall not have authority to enter into contracts that bind the Company or create obligations on the part of the Company
without the express, prior authorization of the Company.
 

6. Performance. All services to be performed by you will be as agreed between you and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. The manner in which the services are to be performed and the specific hours to be worked
shall be determined by you. You shall report to the Chief Executive Officer, or other Company officer designated by the
Company, concerning your services performed under this Agreement.
 

7. Confidentiality. You shall keep in strict confidence and shall not disclose or make available to third
parties any information, technical data, know-how or documents relating to (i) your services under this Agreement or (ii) the
research, developments, inventions, processes, trade secrets, data, techniques, designs, drawings, products, product plans,
services, customers, marketing, software, finances, business methods, business or affairs or confidential or proprietary
information of the Company (other than information in the public domain through no fault of your own) (collectively,
"Confidential Information"), except with the prior written consent of the Company, and you shall only use Confidential
Information as necessary to perform services on behalf of the Company under this Agreement or any other agreement pursuant to
which you are providing services on behalf of the Company. Upon termination of this Agreement, you will destroy or return to the
Company all documents and other materials related to the services provided hereunder or furnished to you by the Company
provided that, in the event of your continued service to the Company in another capacity following the termination of this
Agreement, you shall be permitted to retain any such property to the extent it is necessary to fulfill your obligations to the
Company in such other capacity, subject to the terms and conditions governing such continued service to the Company. Your
obligations under this Paragraph 7 shall survive termination of this Agreement for a period of three (3) years from the date of
termination.
 

8. Intellectual Property. You shall promptly disclose and hereby transfer and assign to the Company all
right, title and interest to all techniques, methods, processes, software, documents, formulae, improvements, inventions and
discoveries (and any patents issuing thereon) made or conceived or reduced to practice by you, solely or jointly with others, in the
course of providing services hereunder or with the use of materials or facilities of the Company, during the period of this
Agreement, and all intellectual property rights related to any of the foregoing (collectively "Inventions"). You shall not publish
any such Invention without the Company's prior written consent. When requested by the Company, you will make available to the
Company all papers, notes, drawings, data and other information relating to any such Inventions. You will promptly sign any
documents (including U.S. and foreign copyright, trademark and patent assignments) requested by the Company related to the
above assignment of rights and such Inventions and will cooperate with the Company at the Company's request and expense in
preparation and prosecution of any U.S. or foreign copyright, trademark or patent applications related to such rights and
Inventions. Your obligations under this Paragraph 8 shall survive termination of this Agreement for the period of three (3) years
from the date of termination.
 

9. Notice of Consulting Activities. You acknowledge that the services to be performed for the Company
hereunder are essential to the Company and, therefore, during the term hereof, you will provide prior written notice to the
Company of any consulting projects for
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companies whose business would be, "Directly Competitive" with the business of the Company. Following its receipt of such
notification, the Company may terminate this Agreement at any time effective immediately. "Directly Competitive" shall mean
companies that engage in the research and development and/or sale of selective CDK4/6 inhibitors. The Company acknowledges
your commitments to, Artizan Biosciences, Inc., Emory's DRIVE Enterprise, Meryx and Abyrx are not being directly
competitive to this Company.
 

10. Amendment. Any amendment to this Agreement must be in a writing signed by you and the
Company.
 

11. Notice. All notices, requests and other communications called for by this Agreement shall be
deemed to have been given when received if made in writing and mailed, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, if to you at
the address set forth above and if to the Company to P.O. Box 110341, 700 Park Offices Drive, Suite 200, Research Triangle
Park, North Carolina 27709, or to such other addresses as either party shall specify to the other.
 

12. Indemnification. You agree to indemnify and hold the Company harmless from all claims, losses,
expenses, fees including reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and judgments that may be asserted against the Company that result
from the acts or omissions of you under this Agreement. The Company agrees to indemnify and hold you harmless from all
claims, losses, expenses, fees, including reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and judgments, that may be asserted against you that
relate to the Company except such claims, losses, expenses and fees that result from your acts or omissions under this
Agreement.
 

13. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of North Carolina, excluding that body of law known as choice of law. All disputes with respect to this
Agreement shall be brought and heard either in the North Carolina state courts located in Orange County, North Carolina, or the
federal district court for the Eastern District of North Carolina located in Raleigh, North Carolina. The parties to this Agreement
each consent to the in personam jurisdiction and venue of such courts. The parties agree that service of process upon them in any
such action may be made if delivered in person, by courier service, by telegram, by telefacsimile or by first class mail, and shall be
deemed effectively given upon receipt.
 

14. Entire Agreement. This Agreement is the entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject
matter hereof and there are no other promises or conditions in any other agreement whether oral or written. This Agreement
supersedes any prior consulting or other agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof between you and the Company.

 
15. Assignment. This Agreement shall be for the benefit of, and shall be binding upon, the successors and

assigns of the parties hereto. You agree not to assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Company.
 

 

(Signature Page Follows)
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(Signature Page to Scientific, Clinical, and Regulatory Advisor Agreement)

 
If this Agreement is satisfactory, please indicate your acceptance of these terms by your signature below.

 
Very truly yours,
 
G1 THERAPEUTICS, INC.
 
 

By:  /s/ John E. Bailey,
Jr.
Name:John E. Bailey, Jr.  
Title:Chief Executive Officer  
 
 
AGREED AND ACCEPTED:
Seth Rudnick M.D.
 
 
 
  /s/ Seth Rudnick
(Signature)
 

 



 
EXHIBIT A

 

Advisor's Responsibilities
 
As a Scientific, Clinical, and Regulatory Advisor to the Company, Seth Rudnick (the “Advisor”) will make best efforts to:
 
1. Provide guidance and advice to the Company on scientific and technological matters and developments potentially
relevant to the Company's business and areas of research and development and otherwise as either the Company or Advisor
considers appropriate.
 
2. Develop, review and comment on the Company's strategies for research and development, product definition,
regulatory approvals, business development and marketing, as well as its related presentations and materials.
 
3. Provide consulting services to the Company at its request, including a reasonable amount of informal consultation in
person, over the telephone, by email, or otherwise as requested by the Company at times reasonably convenient to Advisor.
 
4. With the Company's approval in each instance, make introductions to individuals and corporations that might be of
assistance to the Company.

 
5. Provide any material reasonably requested by the Company that is relevant to the Company's clinical
development/testing plans and to which Advisor has reasonable access.

 
6. Review and comment on the Company's clinical development/testing plans.

 
7. Other services related to the Company's clinical development programs to be provided as appropriate and/or requested
by the Company, in each case subject to a written addendum to this agreement setting forth the particular services and the
compensation to be paid for such services.
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John E. Bailey, Jr, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of G1 Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

 (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 

 



 
Date: August 4, 2021 By: /s/ John E. Bailey, Jr.
  John E. Bailey, Jr.
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jennifer K. Moses, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on 10-Q of G1 Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

 (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 (d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.



 
Date: August 4, 2021 By: /s/ Jennifer K. Moses
  Jennifer K. Moses
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)
 



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of G1 Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2021 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: August 4, 2021 By: /s/ John E. Bailey, Jr.
  John E. Bailey, Jr.
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
 
This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of G1 Therapeutics, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of G1 Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2021 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of her knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: August 4, 2021 By: /s/ Jennifer K. Moses
  Jennifer K. Moses
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)
 
This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of G1 Therapeutics, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.


